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To Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to
present to you the annual results of China Rare Earth Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

In 2023, the global economy and consumer market demand were
still recovering due to a combination of factors such as persistently
high interest rates, a weak global economy and geopolitical
situation. As an important production element for many products,
the demand for rare earth materials was inevitably affected. In
addition, imports of rare earths from other countries increased
significantly during the year, resulting in an oversupply of rare
earths in the industry and a year-on-year drop in the average price
of rare earth products. In the face of the challenging market
prospect, the Group continued to optimize its operating structure
and insisted on the provision of high quality products in an effort to
enhance its overall performance. With the government actively
safeguarding the healthy development of the rare earth industry
and continued breakthroughs in the application of rare earth
materials, it is expected that the performance of the rare earth
industry will gradually rebound.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$686,073,000, a 15% decrease from
HK$810,413,000 in 2022. Revenue from the Group's rare earth
products recorded revenue of approximately HK$469,423,000, a
14% decrease from that in last year, and accounted for about 68%
of the Group's total revenue. As for refractory products, revenue
was around HK$216,650,000, a 18% decrease from
HK$263,798,000 in 2022, while accounting for about 32% of total
revenue of the Group.

In 2023, the Group suffered a gross loss of approximately of
HK$151,315,000, which is mainly attributable by its rare earth
segment because of the rare earth market in China experienced a
sharp decline in prices primarily due to insufficient demand and
increased supply.

The demand for rare earth minerals in China was lower than
expected in 2023, including a slowdown in certain industries that
heavily rely on rare earth elements, such as electronics
manufacturing and renewable energy sectors and also the economic
factors, such as trade tensions and global market conditions. Also,
the downstream magnetic materials companies have shown limited
inquiries, and magnetic material factories have primarily relied on
consuming its existing inventories. As a result, the overall demand
on the rare earth products continuously declined, putting downward
pressure on the rare earth market.

At the same time, there was an increase in the global supply of rare
earth minerals, including from China itself. In recent years, China
has been the dominant player in the rare earth market, accounting
for a significant portion of global production. However, other
countries and mining companies started ramping up their rare earth
production, leading to a surplus in the market. This increased supply
further contributed to the downward pressure on prices.

The combination of insufficient demand and increased supply
created an imbalance in the rare earth market, causing pressure on
the prices which is the key factor for the gross loss of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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The loss for the year was approximately HK$209,604,000,
representing a decrease of 47% as compared to the previous year,
which is mainly attributable to the fact that the Group engaged an
independent professional party to implement a comprehensive
maintenance project for the environment enhancement at the area
of its rare earth production plant in the second half of 2022
amounts to approximately HK$326,412,000 while no such expenses
were incurred this year. The loss per share recorded at about
HK8.56 cents, and the loss per share in 2022 was HK15.94 cents.

In the face of market instability, the Group adopts prudent financial
strategies and maintains sufficient cash flow to maintain solid
financial strength. In terms of operations, the Group actively
optimize production, management and sales to reduce costs and
increase efficiency, and ensure long-term friendly cooperative
relationships with high-quality customers with high-quality products
and services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Rare Earth Business

Rare earths are strategic resources and advantageous areas that
China focuses on control and development. In national medium-
and long-term development plans such as “Made in China 2025",
rare earth functional materials have always been listed as key
strategic materials for focused development.

Rare earth elements are used in a wide range of applications and
are important production elements for traditional electronic
products, medical and military equipment, and even renewable
energy. Rare earths, due to their physical properties, are added to
various products and technologies to make them more efficient and
reliable, and have extremely high strategic value. With the
continuous development of the new energy industry chain and the
national policy of orderly promotion of carbon peaking and carbon
neutrality, the demand for rare earth materials in wind turbines,
solar cells, energy-saving lamps and electric vehicles continues to
rise. Among them, the long-term growth trend of end-user
penetration rate of high-performance neodymium iron boron
(“NdFeB"”) permanent magnets remains unchanged, which will be
conducive to the long-term stable development of the rare earth
industry.
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However, in the second half of the Review Year, China’s light rare
earth market was dominated by rigid demand transactions. Due to
fewer new orders, companies mostly adopted a wait-and-see
approach to procurement and focused on depleting inventory,
putting pressure on domestic light rare earth market prices. During
the year, the sales generated from the rare earth segment was
approximately HK$469,423,000, a decrease of 14% compared with
the same period last year. The segment suffered a full-year loss of
approximately HK$162,363,000, a decrease of 56% compared with
the same period last year.

In response to the supply situation and customer demand, the
Group’s rare earth business operation model is mainly based on
trading and processing. During the year, the sales volume of rare
earth products fell by 30% compared with the full year of 2022 to
approximately 470 tonnes. The three main rare earth sales products,
such as terbium oxide, dysprosium oxide and the new product
neodymium praseodymium oxide, together account for more than
90% of the overall sales of the rare earth segment. Among them,
the sales unit prices of terbium oxide and dysprosium oxide
decreased by approximately 10% and 33% respectively due to
fluctuations in market conditions.

Facing the ups and downs of the industrial market, the Group
actively made response and secured a large number of loyal
customers with excellent quality, stable delivery and good
reputation. It also acquired new customers during the year and
consolidated its sales foundation.

In terms of geographical market distribution, China’s domestic sales
market accounts for approximately 98% of the total revenue of rare
earth products, and Japan’'s market accounts for the remaining
approximately 2%.
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Refractory Materials Business

In the face of global economic fluctuations and the sluggish
domestic real estate industry, the pressure faced by industries such
as steel, glass and cement has also extended to the refractory
materials industry. However, with the recent recovery of the
automobile industry, especially the stable development of electric
vehicles, the application of steel and glass has attracted much
attention. As a necessary component in high-temperature furnaces
for manufacturing steel, glass and cement, the demand for
refractory materials has also received certain support. However,
competition in the industry remains fierce, with “price wars”
affecting sales prices, and the bidding models of some steel
manufacturer customers have changed, directly putting pressure on
the sales prices of equipment suppliers. During the year, the sales
generated from the refractory materials segment was approximately
HK$216,650,000, a year-on-year decrease of approximately 18%.
Segment profit was approximately HK$2,209,000, a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 90%.

The sales volume of refractory products decreased by 10%
compared with the full year of 2022 to approximately 22,150
tonnes. The average price of major products has been reduced to
varying degrees. In terms of magnesium grains business, its
subsidiary Haicheng City Suhai Magnesium Ore Co., Ltd. (“Suhai
Magnesium”) resumed production in March 2023 and put into
practice the work plan, effectively driving a significant increase in
sales volume. Approximately 20,800 tonnes of magnesium grains
products were sold during the year.

On 15 December 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with
an independent third party to dispose of its 100% equity interest in
Suhai Magnesium at a cash consideration of RMB29,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$32,785,000). The disposal was
completed on 27 December 2023.

In terms of geographical market distribution, China’s domestic sales
market accounts for approximately 78% of the total revenue of
refractory products. In terms of exports, due to the impact of the
general environment, there has been a decline in usage by foreign
customers, who have resorted to domestic procurement. Therefore,
the Japan market accounts for approximately 16%. Other overseas
markets including Korea accounts for approximately 6%.
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PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2024, macroeconomic uncertainty will continue
to affect the recovery and development of various industries. It is
expected that rare earth market prices will inevitably fluctuate in the
short term. However, the market is still optimistic about the
long-term trend. In particular, the long-term growth trend of
end-user demand such as industrial robots, new energy vehicles,
and wind turbines remains unchanged. The end-user penetration
rate of high-performance NdFeB permanent magnets is expected to
continue to increase, which is conducive to the long-term stable
development of the rare earth industry.

In the context of “supply on demand and orderly distribution”, the
government will reasonably allocate mining and smelting quotas to
rare earth groups based on downstream demand. The oversupply
situation in the rare earth industry is expected to be alleviated in
2024. In addition, in January this year, the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology proposed to enhance the supply capacity of
high-end products and promote the high-end application of rare
earths in aerospace, electronic information, new energy and other
fields. In March this year, seven departments including the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology jointly issued the “Guiding
Opinions on Accelerating the Green Development of the
Manufacturing Industry”, which proposed improving the ability to
secure strategic mineral resources such as rare earths. As the new
energy attributes of rare earths continue to strengthen, the
end-user demand of its industrial chain is expected to improve.

In line with the restructuring situation and market changes in
China’s rare earth industry in recent years, the Group has actively
sought partners and reached a strategic cooperation framework
agreement with China Northern Rare Earth (Group) High-Tech Co.,
Ltd., and continued to communicate with each other to implement
substantive cooperation as soon as possible. The investment
memorandum of understanding signed with Longchuan Zhongxin
Xisheng Import and Export Co., Ltd. in mid-2022 was the Group's
plan to extend its development to the upstream of rare earths. In
addition, the Group will continue to pay attention to the mineral
resources situation in Myanmar, hoping to use this upstream
extension strategy to stabilize mineral source channels, master raw
material resources, and strengthen its competitive strengths.
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In terms of refractory materials, the development intensity of the
non-ferrous industry has increased compared with last year. In the
first quarter of 2024, the Group successfully won the bid for the
new project. In 2023, we achieved “zero” customer complaints and
received unanimous praise from customers. In 2024, we will
continue to improve product quality, strengthen marketing, and
provide customers with better products and services. At the same
time, we actively cooperate with various industry associations,
design institutes and colleges and universities to strengthen
technology research and development and strive to develop
domestic and foreign markets.

In addition, the Group will strengthen environmental protection and
safety construction and renovation to promote green and
sustainable development. With the completion of the environmental
maintenance project at the end of 2022, strict review and control
measures will still be maintained, and production equipment will be
inspected regularly to ensure that it can be quickly modified or
repaired when necessary. The Group's production facilities are
located by Taihu Lake in Yixing City. As the Yixing regional
government strives to build a green city in recent years and in order
to fulfil our social responsibility, the Group will constantly monitor
in environmental protection equipment so as to protect the
environment in the long run and provide employees with a safety
working environment.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group continues to adopt prudent financial measures and
retains sufficient liquidity for future investments and business
development. As at 31 December 2023, the Group held cash and
bank deposits totalling approximately HK$1,299,499,000. Among of
which there was approximately HK$1,297,601,000 denominated in
Renminbi and placed in the PRC. Cash and bank deposits in total
decreased by approximately HK$152,937,000 from approximately
HK$1,452,386,000 at the end of 2022, but there are still sufficient
funds to meet future development needs. Due to the severe impact
of the pandemic on the economy, customers payment processes
have slowed down significantly, which has affected the delay in the
Group's aged trade receivables. As such, the Group increased the
provision of impairment loss on trade receivables by about
HK$4,938,000 during the year. Although the Group believes that
the risk of bad debts is limited, it will still pay close attention to the
development of the situation and collect debts in a timely manner.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group's net current assets amounted
to approximately HK$1,823,383,000, a decrease of approximately
HK$194,246,000 from the end of 2022. Total liabilities to total
assets ratio remained at approximately 5%.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

During the year, the Group did not borrow from banks or financial
institutions. As at 31 December 2023, the Group has maintained a
financing facility of RMB150,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$165,526,000) with a domestic bank by pledging certain
leasehold lands and buildings with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$36,444,000. The facility has not been utilised yet.
In addition, at the end of the year, the Group had no charge on
other assets nor holding any financial derivative products. The
Group has no significant exposure to interest rate risk. For foreign
exchange risk, most of the Group's assets, liabilities and
transactions are denominated in Renminbi with the rest in US
dollars and Hong Kong dollars. During the year, the Renminbi
depreciated slightly which did not cause material fluctuation or
impact on the Group’s financial results. The Group will continue to
monitor changes in exchange rates and strive to minimise financial
risks.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group comprises issued share capital
and reserves. For the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no
change to the authorised share capital of the Company which is
HK$400,000,000 dividable into 4,000,000,000 shares in the par
value of HK$0.1 each.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had issued a total of
2,341,700,281 shares in the par value of HK$0.1 each, and all
shares were fully paid and rank pari passu with each other in all
respects.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION

The Group continued to adjust its manpower structure in line with
business development needs. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
employed a total of approximately 250 staff members, which is
approximately 30% lower than the number at the end of 2022,
mainly attributable to the disposal of the subsidiary, Suhai
Magnesium, in December 2023. The Group's staff costs for the
year, including directors’ emoluments and the equity settled
share-based payment, totalled approximately HK$35,986,000, which
is lower than that of 2022 mainly because staff wastage. The Group
continues to provide on-the-job training and further education
opportunities for its staff in order to maintain professional
competence. At the same time, the Group is actively attracting
talent to enhance its competitiveness.
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FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, certain leasehold lands with carrying
amount of approximately HK$36,444,000 (2022: HK$38,502,000)
and certain buildings with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$0 (2022: HK$0) were pledged as collateral for
banking facilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no capital commitments in
respect of the acquisition and construction of property, plant and
equipment contracted but not provided for (2022: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL

INVESTMENTS OR ADDITIONS OF CAPITAL ASSETS

On 15 December 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with
an independent third party to dispose of its 100% equity interest in
Suhai Magnesium at a cash consideration of RMB29,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$32,785,000) (the “Disposal”). The
Disposal was completed on 27 December 2023.

Details of which was disclosed in announcement of the Company
dated 15 December 2023.

Except for the above, the Group did not have any significant
investments, material acquisition or disposal of any subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures and affiliated companies during the year
ended 31 December 2023, nor were there any future plans for
material investments or additions of capital assets as at 31
December 2023.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE

COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

There has been no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the
Company’s listed securities by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023.

CONCLUSION

Looking ahead, the Group will follow the path of national policy
development, actively seize upstream development opportunities,
strengthen the development of market segments, and always be
prepared to provide high-quality products.

Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the members
of the Board of Directors, the management team, and all employees
for their contributions, and to our shareholders and business
partners for their trust and support.

Qian Yuanying
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

Annual Report 2023 4

15



16

ESRSHRERASRBN

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

BITES

BRELZLT 655K AASERINERER -
LTEBRHFASEBBEBERIK - B L
BI#HE ANERTTEERRLBERE - BN
EESTEBMELCBAER BRTERT RN
METEFTEREEB=TF&5% - RAIRAEE
ZA BRI GEBRSRHE - BELETAER
AIEZREYY Holdings LimitedZ % - 4+
REAEERTEZBRERECZETREAEE
BEBEERECE -

BREXE 715 RASEEIRE  QEER
SEXIFEE T tFNA -BAREBELRE
EHARMIIIRFAREBEREE - BEER
IHEAFTETEASMEBEMERS - BEER
TR -F-ARBEERIBERIOER
CEFERESR  -BAEER L R AMET
EMEB=TFLRH - REIRAEE 28] - BE
FEREEEMAMBRNERNSERERKERD
AREENEIMEELE - BEENABARBIXE
BYEYY Holdings LimitedZ EE - B EAAE
BrEBErtRat s LRARAEELELEES
EEZR - BREBZZEANFNAFTABEZ
E—tFNATHARZERREBARAT (K
RN EBBERHAARAT L (RO :
0556)) Z EEFRMATES -

BRERE 405 R-TEREFNALEKE
BE-Z - tHFEEZIRANKETHAZZRIN
TEF BELBEAEEEREERAEEE
TEEN T 5 HE JE = itk A - 3% 58 A /R L BT B U B
TARAFRHEDIE BELHAEBMAET
AERS LS -

Annual Report 2023 4

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Qian Yuanying, aged 65, is a founding member and the
chairman of the Group. Ms. Qian is responsible for the formulation
of the Group’s overall business development policies. Ms. Qian is
recognised as a senior economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel
Department, and she is also qualified as a Chinese Career Manager.
Ms. Qian has over 30 years of experience in the rare earth and
refractory materials industries. Prior to the founding of the Group,
Ms. Qian was a high school teacher. Ms. Qian is also a director of
YY Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Ms. Qian is the wife of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, an executive director of
the Group, and the mother of Mr. Jiang Xin, the general manager
of the Group.

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, aged 71, is a founding member and was
previously the chairman of the Group until September 2017.
Mr. Jiang is responsible for internal and external coordination and
development of business relationship of the Group. Mr. Jiang is
recognised as a senior economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel
Department. Mr. Jiang has been appointed as the honorary
chairman of the council of Jiangsu Rare Earth Industry Association
since January 2021. Mr. Jiang has over 30 years of experience in the
rare earth and refractory materials industries. Prior to the founding
of the Group, Mr. Jiang had been a factory manager of a refractory
materials production plant and a sales manager of a glass and
ceramics manufacturing company. Mr. Jiang is also a director of YY
Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Mr. Jiang is the husband of Ms. Qian Yuanying, the chairman of the
Group, and the father of Mr. Jiang Xin, the general manager of the
Group. From 16 August 2006 to 15 September 2017, Mr. Jiang
served as the chairman and an executive director of Pan Asia
Environmental Protection Group Limited, the shares of which are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
0556).

Mr. Jiang Dawei, aged 40, joined the Group in 2006 and has been
appointed as the chief executive officer and an executive director of
the Group since 2017. Mr. lJiang is responsible for the overall
management of the Group and the marketing aspect of the Group's
business. Previously, Mr. Jiang was the head of the sales department
of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited. Mr. Jiang
obtained a Bachelor degree of Business Administration from
Yangzhou University.
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Mr. Jiang Cainan, aged 65, joined the Group in 1986 and has
been appointed as an executive director of the Group since 2005.
Mr. Jiang is also the general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing
Refractory Materials Company Limited and is responsible for the
operation and sales of refractory materials business. Mr. Jiang has

over 30 years of experience in the refractory materials industry.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Chunhua, aged 60, joined the Group in 2001 as an
independent non-executive director of the Group. Mr. Huang
obtained a Ph. D degree in Marketing and a Master degree in
Business Administration from University of Strathclyde and a
Bachelor degree in Economics from Wuhan University. Mr. Huang is
the founder and chairman of Pasaca Capital Inc. and also founder
of Innova Medical Group Inc., the global leader of COVID-19 rapid
test kits and testing solutions. Mr. Huang was the deputy chairman
and an executive director of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited (stock
code: 1188), the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, for the periods from November 2002 to
October 2007 and from June 2010 to December 2020. Mr. Huang
was a director and China equity market strategist of BNP Paribas
Securities (Asia) Limited for the period from May 2007 to April
2009. Prior to this, Mr. Huang was an analyst of various securities
companies. Mr. Huang has extensive knowledge and experience in

financial market.

Mr. Jin Zhong, aged 72, joined the Group in 2004 as an
independent non-executive director of the Group. Mr. Jin graduated
from the Faculty of Material Engineering of Wuhan Steel College,
specialising in refractory studies. Mr. Jin was previously the deputy
chief engineer of the head factory of Guiyang City Refractory

Materials Factory.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jiang Xin, aged 39, joined the Group in 2008 and has been
appointed as the general manager of the Group since 2012.
Mr. Jiang is responsible for the marketing aspect of the Group’s
business. Mr. Jiang obtained a Bachelor degree in Arts majoring in
International Business, Finance and Economics from University of
Manchester and a Bachelor degree in Arts majoring in Business
Studies from University of Wales. From December 2016 to
November 2023, Mr. Jiang also served as the chief executive officer,
chairman and an executive director of Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 0556). Mr. Jiang
is a son of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, an executive director of the Group

and Ms. Qian Yuanying, the chairman of the Group.

Mr. Jiang Hongjun, aged 65, joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Jiang
is the deputy general manager of the Group and is responsible for
the daily administrative affairs of the Group. Mr. Jiang has over 30

years of experience in administrative management.

Mr. Huang Wang, aged 55, joined the Group in November 2019.
Mr. Huang is the general manager and the chief engineer of Yixing
Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited. Mr. Huang graduated
from the Faculty of Nonferrous Metallurgy of Northeastern
University. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Huang was the chief
engineer or technical director of various rare earth companies.
Mr. Huang has extensive experience in production process of rare

earth and non-ferrous metal industry.

Mr. Hua Zhangang, aged 47, joined the Group in 2001. Mr. Hua is
the general manager of Wuxi Xinwei High Temperature Ceramics
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of the high
temperature ceramics business. Mr. Hua graduated from the Faculty
of Materials Science and Engineering of Jingdezhen Ceramic
Institute. Mr. Hua has extensive experience in production

management of refractory materials.
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CORPORATE CULTURE

Since its establishment in China in the 1980s, the Group has been
focusing on the development of rare earth and refractory business
with the advantages of rich domestic resources and technology.
Until the Company was successfully listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 1999, the Group
could more effectively contact different overseas investors and
customers. Through multi-faceted cooperation and exchanges, it

hoped to make great progress in the industries.

At the same time, the Group is also committed to establishing good
corporate value, caring for each other, maintaining morality,
advocating integrity, and pursuing excellence, so that the corporate
value can be reflected in the daily business of the Group’'s
employees and support the business development of the Group. At
the same time, the Group also focuses on communication with
employees, actively establishes effective, continuous and regular
communication channels, shares the corporate value and its
embodiment with employees, shares examples of inappropriate
practices, misconduct and discipline, and conducts an open

exchange of views on the corporate culture.

On the other hand, the Group also attaches great importance to
talents in the enterprise. For excellent employees, the Group will
actively provide generous benefits, and implement a performance
evaluation system in the enterprise, establish appropriate incentives
to reward and praise outstanding talents, and assist them to

develop their careers within the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to attending good corporate governance

practices and procedures.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the
interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate business

strategies and policies, and enhance transparency and accountability.

The Company has adopted its own code of corporate governance
based on the principles and code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
the Stock Exchange. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has
complied with the CG Code throughout the year ended 31

December 2023 except for the following:

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 2 June
2023, Mr. Huang Chunhua and Mr. Jin Zhong, the independent
non-executive Directors and Mr. Dou Xuehong, the former
independent non-executive director, were unable to attend the

above annual general meeting due to other work commitment.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Company’s Code”)

regarding securities transactions by directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standards set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry,
the Company confirms that all directors have complied with the
required standards as stated in the Model Code and the Company’s
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes

responsibility for its leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing and
supervising the Company's affairs. Directors take decisions

objectively in the best interests of the Company.
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The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Board includes a balanced composition of executive
directors and independent non-executive directors so that there is a
strong independent element on the Board, which can effectively

exercise independent judgement.

The Board currently comprises six members, consisting four

executive directors and two independent non-executive directors.

The composition of the Board and the attendance of the Board

meetings and general meeting during the year are as follows:

ERLE BTEA

No. of meeting(s) attended/held
Bz B8 VN -
Director Board meeting General meeting
HITES
Executive director
Bzt (F/E) 7/7 A
Ms. Qian Yuanying (Chairman) 717 11
Rt 717 171
Mr. Jiang Quanlong 717 il
BREXE (7THEH) 7/7 A
Mr. Jiang Dawei (Chief Executive Officer) 717 iVAl
Brmxst 717 171
Mr. Jiang Cainan 717 1Al
BIUFHITES
Independent non-executive director
BERERLE 717 0/1
Mr. Huang Chunhua 717 0/1
TELE 717 0/1
Mr. Jin Zhong 717 0/1
FEREYE (RZT=F+-A=+HEH) 717 0/1
Mr. Duo Xuehong (passed away on 30 December 2023) 717 0/1
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Apart from Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with
the independent non-executive directors without the presence of

executive directors during the year.

The biographical information of the directors are set out in
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” on pages 16 to 17 of

this annual report.

Mr. Jiang Quanlong is the husband of Ms. Qian Yuanying. Save as
disclosed, none of the Board members has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant

relationships) between each other.

TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure

that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed director will receive comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing

Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing

and professional development to directors whenever necessary.

During the year, each of the directors of the Company, including
Ms. Qian Yuanying, Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Mr. Jiang Dawei, Mr. Jiang
Cainan, Mr. Huang Chunhua and Mr. Jin Zhong has participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh his/her
knowledge and skills in accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the
CG Code by reading relevant news, journals, magazines and
relevant publications. The Company has provided information
relating to the regulatory update and extracted certain materials
from the website of the Stock Exchange to directors for their own
study to strengthen their understanding on the Listing Rules from

time to time.



EREARRT

EXe T e BEELNERATH]

k

o

9 1§ T8

EZEEXHERMEAE RERAZZENY

ELNBREFEERXLBEERETAY
M-RZE22BEZ  UEEST[HARRRE
ZEREMBRRN - WEEFEAELFBER
T -BFEERBNEFTRLER SR REBEYL
EESREEAR -

SREEERTSLFESSEHEE  LEL

ERHSNEMEFERZB SR IEBKH
B-MBEMEFER ZEMEEARE X
ERARARREMEE T ERHREE -

NREAMERERRRREMBESEERERE

BEgRL  LHRER—RNEBRERR &
IEE’J%F?W?S%%@B@M%*%% R TR AR

RELAFZEZGER  ERSRIERRAE
ENEEARCEARSGBHEFENEARH
LEZEREHRLEEREE -

PXRERBRS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least
14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. Regular Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year involving active
participation, either in person or through electronic means of

communication, of a majority of directors.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company
and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and
each director also have separate and independent access to the

senior management whenever necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular Board meetings
and where necessary, other Board and committee meetings, to
advise on business development, financial and accounting matters,
statutory and regulatory compliance, corporate governance and

other major aspects of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for

directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a
director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly

convened Board meeting.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer

should be clearly established and set out in writing.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the roles of the
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer were held
separately. Ms. Qian Yuanying is the Chairman of the Board and
Mr. Jiang Dawei is the Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman of the
Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company have
different roles and responsibilities. The Chairman is responsible for
the formulation of the Group’s overall business development
policies while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the
overall management of the Group’s business. The Board considers
that the responsibilities of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company respectively are clear and

distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not necessary.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Following the passing away of Mr. Dou Xuehong on 30 December
2023, the Board has failed to meet the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting related financial
management expertise throughout the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Company is still in the process of identifying a suitable
candidate to fill the vacancy as soon as practicable and in any event

within three months from Mr. Dou’s passing away.
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The independent non-executive directors of the Company are highly
skilled professionals with expertise and experience in the field of
financial management and businesses related to the Group. They
advise the Company on strategy development and enable the Board
to maintain high standards of compliance of financial and other
mandatory reporting requirements and provide adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and the
Company as a whole. Each of the independent non-executive
directors has accepted a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of two years. Each of the independent non-executive
directors has made an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers that
all independent non-executive directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are

independent.

INDEPENDENCE MECHANISM
For each Board meeting, there should be at least one independent
non-executive director attended to ensure that independent views

and input are available to the Board.

Should there be any director has interest in matters to be discussed
in Board meeting, such director should declare his/her interests and
be abstain from voting in meeting and any view from independent

non-executive directors should be noted.

All independent non-executive directors may seek assistance from
senior management or independent professional advice at the

Company’s expenses whenever necessary.

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to independent non-executive directors to avoid bias
in their decision-making and compromise their objective and

independence.

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism during the year which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the Board,
which allows the Board effectively exercises independent judgment

to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.
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Implementation and effectiveness of the independence mechanism

during the year was reviewed and the results was satisfactory.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND

CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT
The Company is governed by the Board which is collectively
responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs and
oversight of the Group’s businesses, strategic decision and
performance. The Board reserves for its decision all major matters
relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management, material transactions, financial reporting,
appointment of directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Execution of the Board's decisions and daily

operations are delegated to the management.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control

and risk management systems are in place.

All directors have full and timely access to all information of the
Company as well as the services and advice from the Company
Secretary and senior management. Upon reasonable request, all
directors may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses for discharging their

duties to the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
directors” and senior managements’ liabilities in respect of any legal
actions taken against them arising out of corporate activities. The

insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance with the
Model Code, and the compliance with the CG Code and disclosure

in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy setting out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Board has
considered that diversity of the Board members can be achieved
through consideration of a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualification, skills, knowledge and industry and
regional experience. The Company aims to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant to

the Company’s business growth.

The Nomination Committee and the Board considered that the
current composition of the Board is sufficiently diverse and the

Board has not set any measurable objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness and will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the

Board for consideration and approval.

Annual Report 2023 4
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GENDER DIVERSITY
The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The gender ratio in the workforce of the Group, including the

Board, as at 31 December 2023 is as follows:

prgi:3 3R

Female Male

EES 16% 84%
The Board 16% 84%
L by 30% 70%
Overall workforce 30% 70%
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a Nomination Policy setting out the relevant
selection criteria and nomination procedures in order to select or
make recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships. The selection criteria includes ability to devote
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company,
reputation for integrity, accomplishment and experience in the
relevant industries, commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest, diversity in all its respects and effectiveness in

carrying out the responsibilities of the Board.

To nominate a director, the secretary of the Nomination Committee
shall call a meeting of the Nomination Committee, and invite
nominations of candidates from Board members if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its meeting.
The Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates who

are not nominated by Board members.



HEMERERNE  REZERREHREBR
FUHBEZEZRREN - HRAREAG LES

RENEEMNS  RELZEGHREFTSHELR

BLAHEZERRBHEBRE -

RRHEEEERENRRAE LEENRE
ANER EBERRES  BARRFE OB
o B EIIRREHRENRERBAR - 24
REANLS  BE (’T%EW&W HMER)
BN REFMRAREEREN - ARA R
Fﬁ%ﬁmE’\Jfﬂﬂﬁi\mﬁﬂﬂq%@b‘éﬁﬁx%E@Lu

2R BREALTTERRRECE
RENBRREG LETESE -

FEAATRBERAGZAEMKRBBAAR
AMARRERREEBAREEFEANER -

HHEBREANBRRAGL2ENMAZEE &
EFERBARERTERE -

REZBESNEEBRRL TR REERE - UHE
REBRME -

PXRERBRS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its

consideration and recommendation.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated by the
Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to invite
nominations from the shareholders of the Company, a circular will
be sent to the shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for the shareholders to make the nominations. The names,
brief biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other information,
as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidates will be included in the circular to the

shareholders.

Until the publication of the circular, the nominated persons shall not
assume that they have been proposed by the Board to stand for

election at the general meeting.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his or her candidature at any
time before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to

the Company Secretary of the Company.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general

meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as

appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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29



EXREBWS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BREBER
EXECRMTHREBEAFEIARF B KRR
BXMHRNTTE AEEFSGERRE AT
a o

1. ARABEXMFNBRE

2. HEBRERADENENENRE

3. ARBERRHOREENMR N EE X
RS

4. ARBETHBRHERADAIBZEL
ROEMIBZEAFENEMNYHERORE
BRI

5. ARAREMBRARSNERN  HBMR -
REXE BRAE Z2EELFRERE
HREHFR

6. MEBRARMARRZNMEAEEKE @

ExeZ8g

EXEgCRU-EZES  NEXZES  FM
ZEGMREZERURBADNANKFESE -
ARBMBEESEZRREHRY THENER
BREE EXEEZB e BRERECAEARQT
R RPrEE ETIE - RIREREH TR -

S-EFUEEGEETRWARUBALR
BoUEARERT  EAEEEERTINE
SMMERY - BAEAEERE

o

30 Annual Report 2023 4

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy setting out the approach
to target dividend payout ratio of the Company, which is
determined by the Board at its sole and absolute discretion, subject

to:

1. the requirements of the Company’s constitutional documents;

2. the solvency requirements of the Companies Act of the

Cayman Islands;

3. there being sufficient amount of retained profits and share

premium of the Company for the dividend payment;

4. any financial covenants and other restrictions that exist with
respect to certain of the Company’s financing arrangements
and other agreements by which the Company is bound from

time to time;

5. the earnings, financial position, results of operation, expansion
plans, working capital requirements, and anticipated cash

needs of the Company and its subsidiaries;

6. the payment by subsidiaries of cash dividends to the Company;

and

7. other factors which the Board may deem appropriate.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with defined written
terms of reference. The terms of reference of Board committees are
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange

and are available to shareholders upon request.

Each Board committee has also been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request, is
able to seek independent profession advice in appropriate

circumstances at the Group's expense.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The principal functions of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the relationship with the auditor of the
Company, the financial information, the financial reporting system,

risk management system and internal control procedures.

The composition of the Audit Committee and the attendance of the

Committee meetings during the year are as follows:

o4 BRLE BT¥A
Member No. of meetings attended/held
BYFHITES

Independent non-executive director

BERERE (FE) 22
Mr. Huang Chunhua (Chairman) 2/2
eEEE 2/2
Mr. Jin Zhong 2/2
B2RAE (RZE=F+-A=+H&H) 2/2
Mr. Dou Xuehong (passed away on 30 December 2023) 2/2

K@t BRZBERMTARAMKRAZE
AERRE RS RESZ  RREERSR - A
ERLEBHRBER  BENATESRE X
FEHBE T FERTARRZPHAREFESE -

FMEES

FHZ B I ERERAESTERHEALRA
EXNREREFMERREB T HZER
T REZARHFMAES -

During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Company and discussed
auditing, risk management system, internal control and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the interim and annual
results of the Company with the assistance of the auditor without

the presence of the executive directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee are to make

recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management,

and to review their specific remuneration packages.
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The composition of the Remuneration Committee and the
attendance of the Committee meetings during the year are as

follows:

SEHE BITHE
No. of meetings attended/held

BYFHITES
Independent non-executive director
BE2RGE (FF)

(R-ZZEZ=F+-HA=1THEHE) 71

Mr. Dou Xuehong (Chairman) (passed away on 30 December 2023) 11

Mr. Huang Chunhua
SELE
Mr. Jin Zhong
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11
171
11
171

The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for performing the

functions set out in the code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting and

had performed the works as follows:

1. reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy and structure;

2. reviewed the terms of service contracts of all Directors;

3. reviewed remuneration packages of the Directors and senior

management; and

4.  reviewed the Share Option Scheme of the Company.

The Directors are remunerated with Directors’ fees and only
executive Directors are remunerated with discretionary cash bonuses
and/or share options. All Directors are covered by directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance. Directors’ fees are determined with
reference to their respective duties and responsibility with the
Company, the Company’'s performance, current market situation

and the Group’s remuneration policy.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The principal functions of the Nomination Committee are to review
the Board composition with reference to the Board Diversity Policy
adopted, discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of directors with reference to
the Nomination Policy adopted, and assess the independence of

independent non-executive directors.

The composition of the Nomination Committee and the attendance

of the Committee meetings during the year are as follows:

54 =] BELE BTHA
Member No. of meetings attended/held
BYFHITES

Independent non-executive director
SERE (£/E)

Mr. Jin Zhong (Chairman)

BEERELE

Mr. Huang Chunhua

FEREYE (RZT-=F+-A=+HEH)

11
171
11
171
11

Mr. Dou Xuehong (passed away on 30 December 2023) 11

Ee@dl REZEG2EEFTINEZ TR
RMBEEBERA TARAZESEEARLE
VHRTEENB UM - REZEGRRERA
JERSHKREE -

EECER
ARAMABERARUITREBUESAELE
“EHERE-R REFEZENEHERE
ABEZEARATERRBFARE -

RIEAAE108A)REB)F - BREXE - BAE
AEREBAEBRABRTORRBEFAE
tHERT EAERYMEEESE -

During the meetings, the Nomination Committee with reference to
the Board Diversity Policy and Nomination Policy reviewed the Board
composition and the independence of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company. The Nomination

Committee considered that the Board composition is appropriate.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company’s Articles of Association specify that every director
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and the director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold

office only until the next annual general meeting of the Company.

In accordance with Articles 108(A) and (B), Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
Mr. Jiang Dawei and Mr. Jin Zhong will retire by rotation from the
Board at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023. It is the directors’ responsibility to prepare financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group, the results and cash flows for each financial period. In
preparing the financial statements, the directors have to ensure that
appropriate accounting policies are adopted. The financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about the reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 56 to 68 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this report, Mr. Law Lap Tak tendered his resignation as the (i)
company secretary (the “Company Secretary”), (ii) an authorised
representative of the Company under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules
(the "Authorised Representative”); and (iii) authorised representative
for accepting service of process or notice on behalf of the Company
in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Process Agent”), with effect
from 1 August 2023. Ms. Ng Wing Man (“Ms. Ng”) was appointed
as the Company Secretary, an Authorised Representative and the
Process Agent with effect from 1 August 2023.

Following Ms. Ng's resignation as the Company Secretary, an
Authorised Representative and the Process Agent with effect from 7
February 2024, Mr. Chu Kin Ming (“Mr. Chu”) was appointed as
the Company Secretary, an Authorised Representative and the
Process Agent with effect from 7 February 2024.

Mr. Chu is the external service provider and was engaged by the
Company as the Company Secretary, is responsible for advising the
Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the
Board'’s policies and procedures, as well as the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed. The primary contact person at the
Company with Mr. Chu was Ms. Qiang Yuanying, the Chairman of
the Board. Mr. Chu is a fellow member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. He is also a member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance
Institute (previously known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators). Mr. Chu obtained a degree in bachelor of arts
in accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2003
and a degree in executive master of business administration from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2022. Mr. Chu has more
than 20 years experience in financial and company secretarial field.
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Mr. Law Lap Tak, Ms. Ng and Mr. Chu had confirmed that each of
them received no less than 15 hours of relevant professional

training during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S

REMUNERATION
The Company has established a transparent procedure for

formulating policies on remuneration of directors and senior

management of the Group.

The remuneration paid or payable to senior management, excluding
the directors, for the year ended 31 December 2023, are within the

following bands:

AH

No. of individuals

Z - 1,000,000/ 7T
Nil - HK$1,000,000
1,000,001 7T - 2,000,000/ 7T
HK$1,000,001 - HK$2,000,000

HE-ZT-_=F+_A=+—HBLEFEEMKL
BN FEERSLAEREBZHWFBINGA
B SRR T RE10/% 11 ©

REMZME
RAFE ARBIG B e R 2 BEZERS (2
TEEMRE) X4 2 B2 52,300,000 7T °

BB R BB
NEBCHFRREIRMABEE BAEBRSE
T ERLZEChSMREREAN -

N NS D

Details of the remuneration paid or payable to directors and senior
management for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in

notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration in respect of audit services
(including other services) provided by the auditor of the Company
was HK$2,300,000.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Group has established a risk management framework, which
consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and senior management

of the Group.
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The Board evaluates and determines the nature and extent of
principal risks that are acceptable in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and acknowledges its overall responsibility for
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. Risks include materials risks relating to business,
operational as well as environmental, social and governance. The
Audit Committee supports the Board in monitoring the operating
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems,
while the senior management is responsible for the design and
implementation of relevant procedures. Such systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not

absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group has adopted various risk management procedures and
guidelines with defined authority for implementation by major units
or departments, including sales and collection, procurement and
payment, production and warehousing, finance and treasury as well
as fixed assets management. Each major unit or department is
responsible for daily risk management activities, including
identifying major risks that might impact on the Group’'s
performance, accessing and evaluating the identified risks according
to their likely impacts and the likelihood of occurrence, formulating
and implementing measures, controls and response plans to manage
and mitigate such risks. Designated senior management is
responsible for liaison with local authorities for the matters relating
to environment and social issues. During monthly regular meetings,
heads of major operation units or departments discuss the business
and report the risk management and internal control matters to the
Group's Chief Executive Officer, who is directly responsible to the

Board.

In view of the importance of the treasury cycle, principally it is
processed by segregation of duties and proper approval is needed
for all payment and fund management. Each subsidiary will review
its own cash position continuously to ensure that there is adequate
fund available to support its operation and development. The
Chairman of the Board will work together with all executive
directors to monitor the overall financial resources of the Group and

carry out fund allocation.
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The Board has entrusted the Audit Committee with the
responsibility to oversee the risk management and internal control
systems on an on-going basis and to review the effectiveness of the
systems annually. To perform the internal audit function, the Group
has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems with the assistance of an independent
advisor during the year and reported the key findings to the Audit
Committee. The review covers major and material controls in areas
of financial, operational and compliance and risk management
functions. Although there is room for improvement, no significant

deficiency of the internal control has been identified in the review.

The Group has maintained internal guidelines for ensuring that
inside information is disseminated to the public in an equal and
timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. Senior executives of the investor relations, corporate
affairs and financial control functions of the Group are delegated
with responsibilities to control and monitor the disclosure of inside
information. Access to inside information is confined to relevant
senior management on “need-to-know” basis. Relevant personnel
and other professional parties involved are reminded to preserve

confidentiality of the inside information until it is publicly disclosed.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

General meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their
absence, their duly appointed delegates are available to answer
questions at the shareholders’ meetings. Auditor of the Company is
also invited to attend the Company’s annual general meeting
("AGM") and is available to assist the directors in addressing
queries from shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and
the preparation and contents of the Independent Auditor’s Report.
Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on

each substantial issue, including the election of individual directors.

Notice of AGM and extraordinary general meetings ("EGM")
together with related papers are sent to the shareholders at least 21
days and 14 days before the respective meetings, setting out details
of each proposed resolution, voting procedures and other relevant
information. All votes of shareholders at the general meeting will be
decided by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules. The chairman of the
meeting will demand that all resolutions put to the vote at general
meetings be taken by poll and will explain such rights and
procedures during the general meetings before voting on the
resolutions. An independent scrutineer will be appointed to count
the votes and the poll results will be posted on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange after the general meetings.
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Shareholders of the Company can make a requisition to convene an
EGM pursuant to Article 64 of the Company’s Articles of
Association. The procedures for the shareholders to convene an

EGM are as follows:

1. One or more shareholders (“Requisitionist”) holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings shall have the right, by written notice, to
require an EGM to be called by the directors for the

transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

2. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the directors or
the Company Secretary of the Company at all of the following

addresses:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
Address: Unit 1011, 10/F., Harbour Crystal Centre, 100

Granville Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,

Hong Kong
Email: info@creh.com.hk
Attention: Company Secretary

Head office of the Company
Address: Dingshu Town, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province,
the People’s Republic of China

Attention: Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company
Address: Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

Attention: Company Secretary

Shareholders must provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to given effect thereto. Shareholders’

information may be disclosed as required by law.

Annual Report 2023 4

39



EXREBWS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

3. BRENASAREBSRERERME
HRETT

4. HWEERERZKREEF -+ -BREHA
ZRE —REAEFRARG A UER
AAEH MBERAREERETEME
B2 YaBRAXAERAREETHER
A e

BRRARREBRREAZRF

HREFEZEE BRRABRUTIAEERARF
%

ok EBNBEADBINERE B 100558 &
FO0I1011E

BH - info@creh.com.hk
BiE (852) 2869 6283

BE (852) 2136 0030

BiEA o DRME

HRBROBLERNSE MRGBFRER &
Bt EARERREE)  BRRE
DT

ERAZEERBFELDE
BEEPREFTLARDA

ot EBERAERISIFEA M L1718
E (852) 2862 8555
ES=iE (852) 2865 0990

BRERRRAELREEBEZER

BTIRARBABRRARE LIREZE  BRRENE
HAANKEEE ((ERE)) BREFAZBE
ERERXAARNBACTEERME IR
BENERD B INERZE1005 8 & F 0108
101M1E

Annual Report 2023 4

3. The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of

such requisition.

4. If the directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting within
21 days of such deposit, the Requisitionist himself may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the Requisitionist as a result of the failure of the directors shall

be reimbursed to the Requisitionist by the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to direct enquiries to the
Company
For matters in relation to the Board, shareholders can contact the

Company at the following:

Address: Unit 1011, 10/F., Harbour Crystal Centre, 100
Granville Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: info@creh.com.hk

Telephone: (852) 2869 6283

Fax: (852) 2136 0030

Attention: Company Secretary

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and
registration, change of name or address, loss of share certificates or

dividend warrants, the registered shareholders can contact:

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Address: 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2862 8555

Fax: (852) 2865 0990

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a
shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
(“Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 1011,
10/F., Harbour Crystal Centre, 100 Granville Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,

Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request
is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to include the
Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concerned
at the general meeting varies according to the nature of the
Proposal as follows:

1. At least 14 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company.

2. At least 21 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in an
EGM or an ordinary resolution of the Company in an AGM.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries

from investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company also maintains a
website at www.creh.com.hk, where extensive information and
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information and other information are posted.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has in place a Shareholders Communication Policy.
The policy aims to set out the provisions with the objective of
ensuring that shareholders, and, in appropriate circumstances, the
investment community at large, are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company (including its financial performance, strategic goals and
plans, material developments, governance and risk profile), in order
to enable shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow shareholders and the investment community
to engage actively with the Company. The Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders
Communication Policy and the results were satisfactory.
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Corporate communication
Corporate communication will be provided to shareholders in
plain language and in both English and Chinese versions to

facilitate shareholders’ understanding.

Corporate website

A dedicated investor relations section titled “Investor
Relations” is available on the Company website (www.creh.
com.hk). Information on the Company’s website is updated on
a regular basis. Information released by the Company to the
Stock Exchange is also posted on the Company’s website
immediately thereafter. Such information includes financial
statements, results announcements, circulars and notices of

general meetings and associated explanatory documents, etc.

Shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings
for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the
meetings. Appropriate arrangements for the annual general
meetings shall be in place to encourage shareholders’
participation. The process of the Company’s general meetings
will be monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and if
necessary, changes will be made to ensure that shareholders’
needs are best served. Board members, in particular, the
chairmen of Board committees or their delegates, appropriate
management executives and external auditors will attend

annual general meetings to answer shareholders’ questions.

BRXH CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
RAEER  AATZ SRXELEEE -

During the year, there was no change in the constitutional

documents of the Company.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and sales of rare

earth products and refractory products.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to

the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Details of segmental information of the Group are set out in note

15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Please refer to the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” for the
discussion of business review of the Group’s businesses for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are

set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 69 of

this annual report.

No interim and final dividend was declared and paid to the

shareholders for the year.

Details of other appropriations are set out in note 27 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution comprise the share
premium account and retained profits/accumulated losses. As at 31
December 2023, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$1,715,944,000.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results of the Group for the past five financial
years is set out on page 172 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES
Details of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

this report are:

Executive directors

Ms. Qian Yuanying (Chairman)

Mr. Jiang Quanlong

Mr. Jiang Dawei (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Jiang Cainan

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Huang Chunhua

Mr. Jin Zhong

Mr. Dou Xuehong (passed away on 30 December 2023)

In accordance with Articles 108(A) and (B) of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Mr. Jiang Dawei and Mr. Jin
Zhong will retire by rotation from the Board at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for

re-election.

As at 31 December 2023, none of the directors has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other
than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executives of the Company and their respective
close associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers were as

follows:
1. REQATRGER 1. Interests in shares of the Company
EAERBE#IT
B=x ERME 54 R4 EE RANESD
% to the issued
share capital of
Director Nature of interest/Capacity Number of shares the Company
BITRE EFEZHRIIA 707,179,200 (#f#t1) 30.20%
Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 707,179,200 (Note 1) 30.20%
BT R RERAZ = 21,000,000 (4t#2) 0.90%
Qian Yuanying Interest of controlled corporation 21,000,000 (Note 2) 0.90%
W oREE B i#n,/ SERARZER 728,179,200 (ffi#1K2) 31.10%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of spouse/Interest of 728,179,200 (Notes 1 & 2) 31.10%
controlled corporation
BARE EmEAA 530,077 (#1i#3) 0.02%
Jiang Dawei Beneficial owner 530,077 (Note 3) 0.02%
et - Notes:

1. 707,179,200/ LA tF B EBYY Holdings
Limitedt5 8 » H2 D BITRAAYY Trust
B FEAYYT (PTC) Limitedfi#A » M ¥ 2
ABERELENEBRETRLLRET
2EBBMAF - WEHFRIEENEXV
B2 EEETTRLZ T AYY TrusthIp LA ©
B RESEREBITELZTARYY Holdings
LimitedH) & 5

2. 21,000,000 LA 4F & i #@Praise Fortune
Limited# A - H39.93%#) 2 21T AN A ¥
FRACENEBETIRALZIHE BIR
42+ APraise Fortune Limited®) & % o

3. FEBRDBAEFRESR -

1. 707,179,200 shares are held in long position through YY
Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is held
by YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY Trust, the discretionary
object of which is a company wholly owned by Ms. Qian
Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, and her sons.
Ms. Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within the meaning
under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Jiang Quanlong and Ms. Qian
Yuanying are the directors of YY Holdings Limited.

2. 21,000,000 shares are held in long position through Praise
Fortune Limited, 39.93% of its issued share capital is held by
Ms. Qian Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong. Ms. Qian

Yuanying is a director of Praise Fortune Limited.

3. All the shares are held in long position.
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2. REBAFAKREG  HEROIRAES

@ MWMHERERLA

o BEMtE 55
Nature of
Director interest/Capacity

2.

Interests in shares, underlying shares or equity interests in
associated corporations

(a) Microtech Resources Limited

EZAREBITRAS
ZBROERNE DT

% in the class of

ERTROBERER

shares in the issued
Number and class share capital of

of issued shares the company

BITR EaEEA
Qian Yuanying Beneficial owner
BRE EnEAA

Jiang Quanlong Beneficial owner

(b) EEFEFIHLERL A

ERERRITNR(H3,000,0000% 30%
3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares 30%
ERERRTENR(H7,000,0000% 70%
7,000,000 non-voting deferred shares 70%

(b) Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited

= ERME 54 REEZESE
Director Nature of interest/Capacity % equity interest
%R REBAR R 5%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation 5%
Htat - Note:

ZERBDEBEENAEEER AR
BoZPEMCXMERELEEARIORE
@B TMI0%EEmARBRLRLL
RAE BRERENBALEOEERR
A e

Annual Report 2023 4

The equity interest is held by Yixing Xinwei Group Co., Ltd., a
PRC domestic enterprise 90% owned by Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
with the remaining 10% owned by his spouse Ms. Qian
Yuanying. Mr. Jiang Quanlong is also the legal representative of
the enterprise.
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(c) YY Holdings Limited

EZAREBITRAF

= ERUE 546 ERTROBE RER ZROEHHNED L

% in the class of

shares in the issued

Number and class of share capital of

Director Nature of interest/Capacity issued shares the company

TR EFEZ LA EREiSaNES 100%

Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 1 ordinary share 100%

BT R EFEZ A & 5 1% 1525,0000% 100%

Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 25,000 preference shares 100%

BREE RERAZ B ERELiaNE 100%

Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation 1 ordinary share 100%

BREE RERAZ RS & 5 1% 1525,0000% 100%

Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation 25,000 preference shares 100%
Wat - Note:

YY Holdings Limitedf) % &5 & 8 47 B A< B
YY Trust®y % 58 AYYT (PTC) LimitedfT 35
B MEZZABBREXSENEBET
KT RETEERBNAR EEFR
HERPIEXVHZEEZEBETEZ L AYY
TrusttI LA c BREXERBE TR L L
AYYT (PTC) Limited W E %

Mg EN R-F-=F+-HA=1+—8"
RIBES R EROIFEIS2GMTE 2 ERLMA
e MEARREETRIBZTRAEREERER
BBALTRADAREBB QR 2K - HEK
MREFHBARRAFE T AERIKE -

The entire issued share capital of YY Holdings Limited is held by
YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY Trust, the discretionary
object of which is a company wholly owned by Ms. Qian
Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, and her sons.
Ms. Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within the meaning
under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. lJiang Quanlong and Ms. Qian
Yuanying are the directors of YYT (PTC) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
directors or chief executives of the Company and their respective
close associates had or was deemed to have any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register
kept under Section 352 of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS

So far as is known to the directors, as at 31 December 2023, the
interests and short positions of shareholders, other than the
directors or chief executives of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:

1. YY Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is
held by YYT (PTC) Limited, was holding 707,179,200 shares of
the Company in long position, representing approximately
30.20% of the issued share capital of the Company as

beneficial owner.

2. YYT (PTC) Limited was deemed to be interested in long
position in 707,179,200 shares of the Company held by YY
Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is
held by YYT (PTC) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other party, other than the directors or
chief executives of the Company, has notified the Company that he
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register kept under Section 336
of the SFO as at 31 December 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the Company’s annual general meeting held on 6 June 2014, the
shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a new share
option scheme currently in force (the “New Scheme”) after the old
share option scheme, which was previously adopted on 4 June
2004, lapsed on 3 June 2014 for the purpose of providing
incentives to participants for their contribution to the Group. Under
the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, which has come into
effect on 1 January 2023, the Company will rely on the transitional
arrangements provided for the New Scheme and will only grant
share options in compliance with the amended Chapter 17 of the

Listing Rules (to the extent applicable).
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The major terms of the New Scheme are as follows:

The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or

rewards for their contribution to the Group.

The eligible participants include any employee (whether
full-time or part-time, including any executive director), any
non-executive director, any shareholder, any supplier and any
customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest, and any party having contributed to the development

and growth of the Group.

Under the New Scheme, the total number of shares available
for issue is 167,264,305 which represents approximately 10%
and 7.14%, respectively, of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of adoption of the New Scheme and

as at the date of this report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Scheme in any 12-month period should not exceed 1% of the

issued share capital of the Company.

The exercisable period of an option granted may be
determined by the directors and should not end later than 10

years after the date of offer.

Any offer for the grant of an option may be accepted by the
participant within 21 days from the date of offer with a
consideration of HK$1 paid.

The exercise price may be determined by the directors provided
that it should not be less than the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date

of offer;
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(i EEREZHEANARZEBAEAR (i) the average closing price of the shares of the Company
MR ERRE %FﬁmZ?i’ﬂﬂl as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
mE: & for the five business days immediately preceding the date

of offer; and
(i) ANARRHOEE - (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.
8. #MFEB_ZT—mMFENANRAD  BIFHFE 8. The New Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years
WHRMABRBRTFRNER - from 6 June 2014, the date on which the Scheme was

adopted.

RZEZ=F+—A=+H8 AEEREHRER On 30 November 2023, five proposed employees and five existing

ENTEZBEERERF T W LBERE - employees of the Group were offered to grant options under the
New Scheme.
FRNEFAEEBELEREZSBMEMT ¢ Particulars of the movement of the options granted under the New

Scheme during the year were as follows:

BREHE
Number of options
i ® ®
ZBCZF i B fn ZBozE
-A-A ER ER B t-A=t-B
2% REAH fi:d BRTEE 2 b fi:d EE3: b2
Cancelled
Exercise Held at Granted  Exercised  or lapsed Held at
price per 1 January during during during 31 December
Participants Date of grant Exercise period share 2023 the year the year the year 2023
]
Employees
At CECZET-ASTE ZBIZET-ASTAE O0STET 44,0000 - - (12,500,000 31,500,000
ZE-RERATRA
In aggregate 30 November 2022 30 November 2023 to HK$0.51 44,000,000 - - (12,500,000) 31,500,000
5 June 2024
REEE
Proposed employees
At CECZET-ASTH ZBIZET-AZTAE 0S1ET 56,000,000 - - - 56,000,000
ZE-MEERATRA
In aggregate 30 November 2022 30 November 2023 to HK$0.51 56,000,000 - - - 56,000,000
5 June 2024
a4
Total 100,000,000 - - (125000000 87,500,000
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The closing price of the Company's shares on the date on which the

options were granted was HK$0.51.

The vesting period of the options granted is from 30 November
2022 to 29 November 2023, while the exercise period is from 30
November 2023 to 5 June 2024.

The vesting and exercise of the options granted to the five proposed
employees and one existing employee carry conditions and/or

performance target as follows:

The five proposed employees
The vesting and exercise of the options granted to the five proposed
employees shall be conditional upon the acceptance of their

employment offer as an employee of the Group.

The one existing employee

The vesting and exercise of the options granted to the one existing
employee shall be conditional upon the fulfillment of a performance
target of achieving an appraisal target to be assessed by the

Remuneration Committee of the Board.

During the year, 12,500,000 share options was lapsed. As at
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the number of share option
outstanding was 100,000,000 and 87,500,000 respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of Shares that may be
issued in respect of options granted under the Share Option Scheme
was 67,264,305 Shares, representing approximately 2.87% of the
weighted average number of Shares in issue as at 31 December

2023 and as at the date of annual report.
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Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement,
which enables any of the directors or chief executives of the
Company or their spouses or children under the age of 18 to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures

of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Details of the share options granted during the year are set out in

note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial

statements, no director had a beneficial interest, either direct or
indirect, in any contract of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party at the year-end date or at any

time during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year, none of the directors had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or

indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year, the Company has in force indemnity provisions as
permitted under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands for the
benefit of the directors of the Company. The permitted indemnity
provisions are provided for in the Company’s Articles of Association
and in the directors and officers liability insurance maintained in
respect of potential liability and costs associated with any

proceedings that may brought against the directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of the

whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was

entered into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
There has been no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the

Company’s listed securities by the Group during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to

the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
- the largest customer 31%
— five largest customers combined 71%
Purchases
— the largest supplier 50%
- five largest suppliers combined 77%

None of the directors, their respective close associates or any
shareholders who own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital to the knowledge of the directors, have any interest in
the share capital of any of the five largest customers or suppliers of

the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to developing and maintaining robust
corporate governance practices to safeguard the interests of its
shareholders and to enhance corporate value, accountability and
transparency of the Company. Information on the principal
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 19 to 42 of this

annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and the Companies Act of the Cayman

Islands in relation to the issue of new shares by the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the

year.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE LISTING RULES

Following the passing away of Mr. Dou Xuehong on 30 December
2023, the Company is not in compliance with among others, the
requirement that (i) the Board must include at least three
independent non-executive Directors; (ii) the audit committee of the
Company must comprise a minimum of three members, and (iii) the
composition of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) is below the requirement under Rule
3.25 of the Listing Rules. which stipulates the Remuneration
Committee must be chaired by an independent non-executive
director and must comprise a majority of independent non-executive
directors. The Company is still in the process of identifying a
suitable candidate to fill the vacancy as soon as practicable and in
any event within three months from his passing away as at the date

of this report.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer
itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. There has been no change

of auditor in the past three years.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Board are not aware of any significant event which had material

effect on the Group subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this report.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2023 Annual General Meeting (the “AGM") will be held on 21
June 2024. A notice convening the AGM and all other relevant
documents will be published and dispatched to the shareholders of
the Company in accordance with the requirements of the Listing

Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Company’s register of members will be closed from Tuesday,
18 June 2024 to Friday, 21 June 2024, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. To ensure that
shareholders are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM,
shareholders must deliver their duly stamped instruments of
transfer, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, to the
Company’s branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 17 June 2024 for registration of the relevant

transfer.

On behalf of the Board

Qian Yuanying
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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10/F Tien Chu Commercial Bldg.
173 Gloucester Road

Wanchai Hong Kong

BB ET

ELATE1735%
AEHERE 1018

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA RARE EARTH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China

Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 69 to 171 which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended and notes, comprising material accounting

policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit

addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit

opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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BEREFEGE

Valuation of the Group’s inventories

FEHG A BIREMNZ20) R4(a)EFREFHETTHE  HBIRIGFTURG R BEHRME202 8 — X EH -

Refer to notes 2(h) and 4(a) to the consolidated financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the related accounting

policies, judgements and estimates and note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

HEETSE
Key Audit Matter

RZBEZ_=F+-_A=+—H ' E5EFENKREEY
#5203,068,0007%8 7T ©
The carrying amount of the Group’s inventories was

approximately HK$203,068,000 as at 31 December 2023.

EEEEMAREKBRED 2B EERMFT TR KA
RETHEMB LAARABEEFEZAERFEE  E4
B REKRMGFTRER -

Management determined the net realisable value of the
inventories by using the estimated selling prices in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the

sale, which involved significant estimates and assumptions.

EEMBREEBERAL DREBEGFEEELR KA
HEKREEMEL -

The determination of the basis of write-down is a
significant judgement based on historical experience of

stock losses and expected future selling prices.

BEBR-_T-=F+-A=1+—HETEFEESL TR
BE_T-_=F+"A=+—HIFER##65320,000
B UEEFEMREREN AR FEE -

The Group carried out the inventory review as at 31
December 2023 and provided allowances of approximately
HK$65,320,000 to write down inventories to their net

realisable value during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Annual Report 2023 4

REFTHEREBEESFSTE2ZLE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

EEREEEY BEEEGEZREENGETIERFE
E(ERERE) LA TRE :

Our procedures in relation to management'’s assessment of
the carrying amount of the Group'’s inventories included,

among others, the followings:

s THREBEMLSFEEAERFENSE KilhERE
JE 3B SR A ET r BRI

e Obtaining an understanding of how management
estimated the net realisable value of inventories and
evaluating the historical accuracy of the allowance

estimation by management;

. BEBENARTETEREHAAEE TAIN
RYEITIHEMNT 2 AP E A EE

e Discussing with management and assessing the basis of
the management’s estimation of subsequent selling
prices, costs of completion and costs necessary to make

the sale;

. HEHEFEETERFEREROHERBR RE
Mt B SRR AR R ERE SR

e Assessing the methodology and assumptions used in
the calculation of the net realisable value of the

inventories; and recalculating the allowance and

reversal of allowances for write-down of inventories;
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Valuation of the Group'’s inventories (Continued)

REETEE
Key Audit Matter

BEEEEMEEFEZAEZRFE ERERRN S
“=E+ZA=1T—H EBESEECGEMEERRE -

Based on the management’'s determination of the net
realisable value of the inventories, the management
concluded that the valuation of the Group's inventories

was fairly stated as at 31 December 2023.

EEARGIHE R HMARBLREREAFE -

We selected this as a key audit matter due to the
magnitude of the balance involved and the significant
accounting judgements and estimates required in assessing

the net realisable value of inventories.
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REFHEEBRBTBEZAE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

s MEFERNMEMRENEE T A RETH
ETHZ RN ERE M R ARRIE &

e Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the selling prices of the inventories
subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
costs of completion and the costs necessary to make

the sale; and

o FEMER-F-=Ft-A=t-AHEHTER
FEERKANBRERESRS -

e Assessing the sufficiency of allowances where the
estimated net realisable value was lower than the cost
as at 31 December 2023.
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BEREER R A B E

Impairment of the Group's trade receivables

BRHGEE BB EIMZ29)()  2()R4@) 2 EFRKE BB RBE - B RIGT ARG SN FREZMNE21833(a) 28—

BH

Refer to notes 2(g)(i), 2(j) and 4(a) to the consolidated financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the related

accounting policies, judgements and estimates and notes 21 and 33(a) to the consolidated financial statements for further

information.

HEETSE
Key Audit Matter

RZZE_=F+-_A=+—HB EXREEKEFOERE
E#4)73418,613,000/& 7T * HIK R {EEE4I58,266,000/8 7T °
The carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables was
approximately HK$418,613,000 as at 31 December 2023,
net of impairment losses of approximately HK$58,266,000.

REBHEEEHE ((HHEEER ) BT HEEERL
REFZEREERAERAM KRG - BEERZBHAE
EEBEDHEREEREZ BB AEBETIE  LER
BB T SR BB AT Ak -

The assessment of impairment of trade receivables under
the expected credit loss (“ECL") model requires the
application of significant judgement and estimates by
management. The ECL on trade receivables are assessed
individually for debtors which are credit impaired and

collectively using a provision matrix.

EREENCERAEETERFEEREEEHREENZA
IEIEER - ABRE AT AP EEEE -

Management also considered forward-looking information
that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the
outstanding balances in order to estimate the expected

credit losses for the impairment assessment.

Annual Report 2023 4

REFTHEEBBEFSTEZLE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

EEHREREY SEEEURERZBETHETZRERF
B (ERBE) A NEE :

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment on the Group's trade receivables included,

among others, the followings:

e T EXERBEHGCEBREAHEELE K
B NORUE Rl 2 BB ] 2 3R T~ Bt R &E 2B
e Understanding the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of the Group’s key controls
over credit control, debt collection and impairment

assessment under the ECL model;

e FIAEEENTIEREBEERMERAEN 2aEER
SENE BRERERZERI T FERUME
AN ERIEE EAERHE R RETHR

e Evaluating the reasonableness and appropriateness of
the information used by the management to develop
the provision matrix including ageing analysis of trade
receivables, on a sample basis, by comparing individual

items in the analysis with the relevant sales invoices;
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BEREERESHRE (&)

Impairment of the Group's trade receivables (Continued)

REETEE
Key Audit Matter

REFHEEBRBTBEZAE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BE_Z_=F+_FA=T—-HILEEHH E5E®
RBEWERR 2R E R RF 749 784,938,000/8 7T °

The Group recognised net impairment loss on trade
receivables amounting to approximately HK$4,938,000
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

REEEEHEREEHBREX T REBRRZRET
EREESHARRAN - ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HZEK
RIREBEE R -

Based on the management’s assessment on the impairment
of trade receivables under the ECL model, the management
concluded that the impairment loss on trade receivables

was adequate as at 31 December 2023.

BHREURRRERIRE RelEEN G I REERE
ERWERESMBREEGIS R EBREH G EEMT - &
FIE R ERRIRETFE

We selected this as a key audit matter due to the
magnitude of the trade receivable balances, the higher
degree of estimation uncertainty and the subjectivity in
management’s judgement involved in determining the

expected loss allowance of the trade receivables.

BARESEREMERZER REEHNEREYHE
ERERE RS R A SUREE N EIR 2 R
AEBEBEXRERBERITEBEMN KATEILEEH
ETREABRIRERFEMTHRERBERRE -
UNHEEREREET T _=F+_A=+—HEK
BR TR R (B B 1R iy P E L0 B R (i 5t 2 & 321

Assessing the reasonableness of management’s
judgement and estimates in determining impairment
loss on trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 by
examining the information used by management,
including review of management’s identification of
trade receivables with credit impaired, testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and
forward-looking information, and examining the actual

impairment losses recorded during the current year;

EFER S =F+_A=1+—BZEKERRAE
BESR: &

Recalculating the impairment losses on trade receivables
as at 31 December 2023; and

RBERRE  UHETARETF KRR
BAEEER

Checking, on a sample basis, the subsequent settlement
of trade receivables by the customer after the end of

the reporting period.
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BEREWNXE BERIEUREHEEEZRE

Impairment of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

FLHGEE BB ERME2(e)  2(f) - 2(9)i)R4@)c EERKEFBRABE - HBRIGTURSEHNFHEZME17R182#

— K -

Refer to notes 2(e), 2(f), 2(g)(ii), and 4(a) to the consolidated financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the

related accounting policies, judgements and estimates and notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements for

further information.

HEETSE
Key Audit Matter

SEEER-Z_=F+_A=+—B2ZYE BERRXR
AR FHE A E 29 B H0 /3131,610,00078 7T 82,519,000/
TER BERERIEBRMAEBNREEEM ([
SELEM)FRSEER-F-=F+-A=t+—H2
IR B2 5 49483,593,0007%8 7T & 129,549,000/ 7T °

The Group's property, plant and equipment, and
right-of-use assets were approximately HK$131,610,000
and HK$82,519,000, respectively, as at 31 December 2023,
of which the carrying amounts of these assets in the
Group’s cash generating units (“CGUs"”) of rare earth
business and refractory business were approximately
HK$83,593,000 and HK$129,549,000, respectively, as at
31 December 2023.

REREHR - EXERBABRINBENEE E5KE
MBEECELBUNFGREELBNEAHBERETR
WMEREBAYR BEXERGFReELELHTRE
TR

At the end of each reporting period, the Group performed
a review on the Group’s CGUs based on internal and
external sources of information to assess whether there is
any indication that the CGU may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, the Group will estimate the recoverable
amount of the CGU.

EEEHEWA RZE_=F+-A=1+—H UE}M
REBREEEBUNZZTEEFLRERME -

The management concluded that there is no provision for
impairment in respect of these assets for the CGU of

refractory business as at 31 December 2023.
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REFTHEEBBEFSTEZLE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

5y EEENREELABNUNZFEENRENGM
ETZRFEEEFERE) UTER

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
these assets on the Group’s CGUs included, among others,

the followings:

o RIE EXENSHBRLREEYH EXEEBHNT R
AEEEENReEFEMABEE

e Assessing management's identification of CGUs based
on the Group’s accounting policies and our

understanding of the Group’s businesses;

e FHEREY BEEERSELBMRENRZM:
e Reviewing management’s assessment of impairment

indication on the Group’s CGUs;

o FMEMERMNER RHIRTEHEE(WER)
e Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity

of the Valuer (if applicable);

o FHMEMERIATEAGHERDOBBERSEE (WER)
e Assessing the relevance and reasonableness of valuation

techniques used by the Valuer (if applicable);
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Impairment of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

HEETEE
Key Audit Matter

BRLEBLCELBUME AREEER_Z_=F
TZTA=T—HBRBETR - A2 #TRE G =
TE_=F+A=+—H WMiEBREELEBELNAIK
BeEH EEE2E SEEZENBUAERIER
R (ERD ([fhERD ) IRERBEFERERT

For the CGU of rare earth business, impairment assessment
was conducted by the management as a result of
impairment indication identified as at 31 December 2023.
The recoverable amount of the CGU of rare earth business
as at 31 December 2023 was determined by the Group
with reference to the value in use calculations performed
by an independent qualified professional valuer (the

“Valuer”) engaged by the Group.

BRAGRENS  ZFEEIEZHBRSELELNL M
ERSEABUZAIKRECHEREEEEAEEEMiLA
ZBREeRERAREREBETEETE  RETTRER G
EEEERAERAGUNZNRcELEMRETERE
BB ARRE BERERERAPEAZKRA
BREDFEBERXARERKRR©RE @B EBREZE
R

For the purpose of assessing the impairment, these assets
were allocated to corresponding CGUs, in which, the
recoverable amount of each CGU was determined by
management based on value-in-use calculations using cash
flow projections approved by management. In carrying out
the impairment assessments, significant management
judgement was used to appropriately identify CGUs and to
determine the key assumptions, including revenue growth
rates, terminal growth rates used in the cash flow
projection and the discount rate applied to bring the future

cash flows back to their present values.

REBEFHEERREFBTEZLE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

AEMBEERRANARGET RBER (BHEERER
AR AERERHREERE) NSRS - SR L&
A R SR 4B R AT TR

Assessing the reasonableness of key estimates and
assumptions applied in the financial budget including
revenue growth rates and terminal growth rate applied
by management by comparing them with historic

results and latest economic and industry forecasts;

AAERABEFENEEERERZHEEERAN
BWABBRIEEEHENEREARRVYBRES I
EE R

Testing the mathematical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculation and agreed input data used by management
to supporting evidence such as actual results and

financial budget approved by management; and
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BERENE BERIEURCHEREEZRE (&)

Impairment of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

REETEE
Key Audit Matter

REGBEFNGE RZZB_=F+A=+—H UE}H
TEBRECELEUNZEEEFELRERE -

Based on the impairment assessment, there is no provision
for impairment in respect of these assets for the CGU of

rare earth business as at 31 December 2023.

HRNERZ T BEEN B RABZ T8N RME T
E - BMERLSHRETEE -

We selected this as a key audit matter due to the financial
significance of the balances, subjectivity of judgements and

estimation uncertainty involved.
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REFTREBRREASZTR A
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

s BEREEEERENGTHHERRRETHEE
o XEEBEFAAEAENAR (EFHAES) =
BHRARESEEESAEL -

e Performing sensitivity analyses by making adjustments

g

= &
=

to the key assumptions in management’s impairment
assessment and considering whether any reasonably
possible adjustments, in isolation or as a combination,
would result in material change in recoverable

amounts.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required

to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.
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The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. The report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or

the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Lai Wing Ip.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

Lai Wing Ip
Practising Certificate Number P07296
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

—E-= —TE-F
2023 2022
B 5 FTERT FHBT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
KA Revenue 5 686,073 810,413
SHERR A Cost of sales (837,388) (809,297)
(E8)/E7 Gross (loss)/profit (151,315) 1,116
H{h e A Other income 6 2,862 4,920
HENDHERH Selling and distribution expenses (9,823) (11,815)
EHEEH Administrative expenses (46,035) (36,794)
HiEEFE Other net loss 7 (11,264) (22,664)
Hin &M% Other operating expenses 7 - (326,412)
LEME ARz W Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 30 5,719 -
REERER Loss from operations (209,856) (391,649)
B 7% Ak A Finance costs 8(a) (309) (297)
MR BT S 1B Loss before taxation 8 (210,165) (391,946)
Frefise, (H) Income tax credit/(charge) 9 561 (1,731)
AEEEE Loss for the year (209,604) (393,677)
THALEEARFERE: Loss for the year attributable to:
KATHES A Owners of the Company (200,545) (373,296)
JEE AR A Non-controlling interests (9,059) (20,381)
(209,604) (393,677)
BRER Loss per share
—HAR#E - Basic and diluted 14 HK(8.56) centsi&flll HK(15.94) cents/&1lll
BICERNNBZMEBKEE P BRMREP — The notes on pages 76 to 171 form part of these consolidated
B o financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

—EB=-= —E -4
2023 2022
Lz FER TET
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
rEEER Loss for theyear (209,604) (393,677)
rEEHMEEER Other comprehensive loss for
the year
ARE#EEZ B RH  Items that may be reclassified
EH : subsequently to profit or loss:
— I ERIN TSI IS KR 2 — Exchange differences on
=58 translation of financial
statements of foreign
operations (29,952) (221,094)
—HEWBATERELEN - Release of translation reserve
& upon disposal of a subsidiary 30 (1,784) -
rEERHEBEAE Total comprehensive loss
for the year (241,340) (614,771)
THATEERFEEZT Total comprehensive loss
EEAE: for the year attributable to:
RARHEA A Owners of the Company (232,507) (594,499)
e R Non-controlling interests (8,833) (20,272)
(241,340) (614,771)

FICERNN B2 WEBEKRAEAVBERREP —

#B1n o
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The notes on pages 76 to 171 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZTZ=F+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2023

—E-= —_F_—
2023 2022
B E THExT FHET
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
FREBEE Non-current assets
EES Goodwill 16 _ _
ME - BERERE Property, plant and equipment 17 131,610 164,273
FAEEE Right-of-use assets 18 82,519 88,741
EIEFRIBE E Deferred tax assets 25(b) 7,273 6,813
221,402 259,827
REBEE Current assets
rE Inventories 20 203,068 191,410
J7E Uit B 30 2 EL A e e 3k Trade and other receivables 21 423,774 492,031
BNRERES Prepayments and deposits 21 5,281 13,065
A] Yy (o] £ 18 Tax recoverable 25(a) 729 911
HehBeEEER Cash and cash equivalents 22 1,299,449 1,452,386
1,932,301 2,149,803
REBAE Current liabilities
JFE (T BR R Trade payables 23 74,792 84,631
FESH R IE R E A FE T 2R Accruals and other payables 23 21,224 37,123
B ZEEFHIE Amounts due to directors 24 10,097 7,505
HEAE Lease liabilities 26 391 371
FESELIR Tax payable 25(a) 2,414 2,544
108,918 132,174
RBEEFE Net current assets 1,823,383 2,017,629
EEHRERABAER Total assets less current liabilities 2,044,785 2,277,456
FREBER Non-current liabilities
HEAR Lease liabilities 26 629 1,020
EEFHE NET ASSETS 2,044,156 2,276,436
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

W-ZTZ=F+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2023

—E_-= —E -4
2023 2022
B & FET FAET
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
IR AR 4 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 27
A& AR Share capital 234,170 234,170
Gl Reserves 1,830,204 2,053,651
KABHEE AELES Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 2,064,374 2,287,821
IF 12 R R Non-controlling interests (20,218) (11,385)
ERAE TOTAL EQUITY 2,044,156 2,276,436
BOERINBE LM BRELBHESTEN = The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 171 were
T_ME=A -+ N\BHEREZERZE  WHN approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28
TALTREEE: March 2024, and are signed on its behalf by:
BRE Fi Jiang Quanlong Qian Yuanying
EE EX Director Director
FIE RN B 2 FEKERE B REE R — The notes on pages 76 to 171 form part of these consolidated
Bp o financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-_ZT-=F+=-A=+—HILFZ For the year ended 31 December 2023

ARTER\EER

Attributable to owners of the Company

hx  RORE  AARE  AREE  EXEE BRERE  Z6R N5t EBERER )
Share Non-
Share Share Capital Statutory ~ Translation option  Accumulated controlling
capital premium Teserve reserves reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
T T Tk T T T TR T AT AT
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
W-8-Z%-5-A At 1 January 2022 234170 2,093,306 22,348 232,253 478,687 - (179,403) 2,881,361 8,887 2,890,248
ZETCEIERRY: Changes in equity for 2022:
REEBR Loss for the year - - - - - - (373,29)  (373,29%) (20381)  (393,677)
A2 EER Other comprehensive loss
-REENEBHBRR - Exchange differences on
ZERER translation of financial
statements of foreign
operations - - - - (221,203) - - (221,203) 109 (221,094)
FEEREERLE Total comprehensive loss for
the year = = = = (221,203 - (373,296) (594,499) (20272) (614,771)
BREREE R AER Recognition of equity-settled
23 (Ks) share-based payments (note 28) - - - - - 959 = 959 = 959
R-B--E+-A=t-A At 31 December 2022 234170 2,093,306 22,348 232,253 257,484 959 (552,699) 2,287,821 (11,385 2,276,436
W=B-=f-f-AR At 1 January 2023 234170 2,093,306 22,348 232,253 257,484 959 (552,699) 2,287,821 (11,385) 2,276,436
IEICEERRY: Changes in equity for 2023:
AEERR Loss for the year - - - - - - (200545 (200,545) (9,059 (209,604)
A2 EER Other comprehensive loss
-REENERIERR - Exchange differences on
JERER translation of financial
statements of foreign
operations - - - - (30,178) - - (30,178) 26 (29,952)
HENBAAAERERERE  Release of translation reserves upon
(H&30) disposal of a subsidiary (note 30) - - - - (1,784) - - (1,784) - (1,784)
FEEREERLE Total comprehensive loss for
the year - - - - (31,962) - (200545) (232,507 (8,833) (241,340
BREREENRMAERZHH  Recognition of equity-settled
(GR2)] share-based payments (note 28) - - - - - 9,060 - 9,060 - 9,060
BREXM (HH28) Lapse of share options (note 28) o 5 = = = (a51) 451 - - -
HENBAAKAREREE  Release of reserve upon
disposal of a subsidiary - - - (6,195) - - 6,195 - - -
RZB-ZE+ZA=1-H At 31 December 2023 234170 2,093,306 22,348 226,058 225,522 9,568 (746,598) 2,064,374 (20,218) 2,044,156
FICARNAZMEBR G M BEHREEH — The notes on pages 76 to 171 form part of these consolidated

ok

Bin e

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

—B-=F —F-—
2023 2022
BT FEx FHATT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
REFTH Operating activities
BRI RIEE Loss before taxation (210,165) (391,946)
AEIFH : Adjustments for:
BA TS B AR Finance costs 8(a) 309 297
F BUWA Interest income 6 (2,862) (4,872)
ME BERIBZITE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 8(c) 30,505 34,744
FREEEZTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8(c) 3,393 3,551
HEMB QR 2 W= Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 30 (5,719) -
HEME  BEREEZ Net gain on disposal of property,
Wi zs 528 plant and equipment 7 - (397)
AR e M BR X 2 R (B Net impairment losses recognised on
EE % trade receivables 7 4,938 15,244
TR 3R L FE W R 2 R (B Net impairment losses recognised on
BEFE other receivables 7 4 44
7 & HUR Write-down of inventories 20(b) 65,320 417
17 B R ) Reversal of write-down of inventories  20(b) - (45)
BREEURNDEBER 2R Equity-settled share-based payments 28 9,060 959
(105,217) (342,004)
EEELEY Changes in working capital
BECEM,/ B (Increase)/decrease in inventories (82,872) 125,792
JFE Ui B R K EL A L 2R Decrease in trade and other receivables 8,483 8,682
BRFERES RS (3EM) Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and
deposits 7,648 (7,542)
FERTBR R 00,/ R 4) Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 11,224 (13,911)
FE ST FRTE & E Atb FE T 3R (Decrease)/increase in accruals and
CRA),/#m other payables (11,446) 3,997
FERYE R KA I, CR D) Increase/(decrease) in amounts
due to directors 2,533 (618)
BEFRANES Cash used in operations (169,647) (225,604)
2GR Income tax paid 25(a) (129) (4,891)
RETEHFEHANESFE Net cash used in operating activities (169,776) (230,495)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

—B-=HF —F-—
2023 2022
fit & TERT FATT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
REFED Investing activities
BEWE BELXE Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (18) (6,957)
HEME BEREEZ Proceeds from disposal of property,
P15 308 plant and equipment - 1,029
B FE Interest received 2,862 4,872
HENRB AR ZEHIE Proceed from disposal of a subsidiary 30 32,761 -
RETFHREB/ (EH)H Net cash generated from/(used in)
BE&FEE investing activities 35,605 (1,056)
MEED Financing activities
ENHEERE 2 BAIH Capital element of lease rentals paid 34 (371) (353)
BENREREZFEHH Interest element of lease rentals paid 34 (61) (79)
EEERANS, Interest paid 34 (248) (218)
METHFEANESFE Net cash used in financing activities (680) (650)
e RBELEEEARD FE Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents (134,851) (232,201)
FPELRBELEEER Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 1,452,386 1,819,833
EXSFH o ¥ E Effect of changes in exchange rate (18,086) (135,246)
FRASRBELEEER Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year 22 1,299,449 1,452,386
FIERITIHEZH B GEEMERKRER — The notes on pages 76 to 171 form part of these consolidated
15 o financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023
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GENERAL

China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
addresses of the Company’s registered office and principal
place of business are disclosed in the “Corporate information”

section of this annual report.

The immediate parent and the ultimate controlling party of the
Company is YY Holdings Limited (“YY Holdings”), which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. YY Holdings does not

produce financial statements available for public use.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are engaged in manufacturing and sales of rare
earth products and refractory products, and investment
holding. There have been no changes in the principal activities

of the Group during the year.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, while
the functional currency of the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") is
Renminbi (“RMB”). The directors of the Company consider
that presenting the consolidated financial statements in Hong
Kong dollars is preferable when controlling and monitoring the
performance and financial position of the Group and in
reporting to YY Holdings whose functional currency is also

Hong Kong dollars.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. EXREHBE

a) HEIFEBH
WEREMBREZRBHAERNE
REBHBREER (BB BERS

b)

A ZABEEMEHE RS
MAE ([BEEFEAE]) BHAE
AIERNC(EREMBREER) (&
BEFER) ((EA G LA ki
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e fl ([ BB ) 2 3258 AR E T 4R
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BRI cBEMBRERER - HRER
BASENASTHREMARERKA
WK - AEN T EAZFER
BREHBREMED 2 BB EHARK
A3 AR F RN U F LR A B
WERMRBRZABRBESHIME
AEEEEERR

BE_T_=—Ft_A=1+—HL#HF
BZHEAaUBRRBEARAREN
BARA -
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RESLRAE  ERTX &R
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a)

b)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("CO"). These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are

disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and amended HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 3
provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods

reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 comprise the Company and its

subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis except for certain financial instruments, which are
stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting

policies set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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=F+=F=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making judgements about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily

apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ

from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the

period of the revision and future periods if the revision

affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated

financial statements and major sources of estimation

uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

¢) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial

statements from the date that control commences until

the date that control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-T-=fF+=A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2023
2. BEARGHEE @ 2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
o MEBAIIRFERER (E) ¢) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

SRR ARz ER RZREER Intra-Group balances, transactions, and any unrealised
RRIFZRGETES 2 E /KB income and expenses (except for foreign currency
mhAY (BRI RS REBRIN transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group
1 TAESE - EBARREZR S transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting
EA 7z RAEIHEEREKEIRBANE from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
RezhNEH ERRAREHEEIE way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there
WABTREEREBENBR is no evidence of impairment.
REBEEBKEHME  AEEAEE For each business combination, the Group can elect to
¥ A (B ok IF 1 AR AE 25 (3 12 Ak 4 measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either at
=) EERBARAIZRNEEFEL fair value or at the NCl's proportionate share of the
L Bl 5t 2 (] JEFE AR ME 25 o FEFR AR subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in
mREEMBRRAR ZEEANEAR A the consolidated statement of financial position within
HEBRREREZIRAZRY - AEE equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
ERANZEERERREGEBERRRK shareholders of the company. NCI in the results of the
SEBEERHEMEZEKREERA 27 Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
RFRNERBTEULREZEKEBEREE statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
FEEREZEAREZRR ZEND statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
fic income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and

total comprehensive income for the year between NCI
and the equity shareholders of the company.

AEBERWEBARINEREZE - A1 Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
BRAEESE EHREESWHER A not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
BRR 5 o transactions.
NG E K AN B A R A E R When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
HeX IERNBRIINEERAE derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
EfrI A B FEE fl i m R E g mIA R - and any related non-controlling interests and other
] A if 22 A2 /O U 22 sk S R R 18 A T components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is
o KK IE Gl R - A 7 AP B recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
NAR R Bz AR TEFE © former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control
is lost.
TR ] B 75 AR 0 2k A A BT B A R R In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
ﬁﬁﬁiﬁiﬁiﬁiﬁﬁ%%ﬂ%(il‘ﬁ% investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
(Q)i)) - DB AFELSE (KA impairment losses (see note 2(g)(ii)), unless it is classified
) *EF%H EHEZHESEN) Bk as held for sale (or included in a disposal Group classified
Hh e as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

d)

e)

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is measured
at cost less accumulated impairment losses and is tested

annually for impairment (see note 1(g)(ii)).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction-in-progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated

impairment losses (see note 2(g)(ii)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour,
the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the
site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs

(see note 2(s)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over

their estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Buildings held for own use 20 years
= Machinery and equipment 10 years
—  Office equipment and fixtures 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life
of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed

annually.
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

e)

f)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Construction-in-progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation and
is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses (see
note 2(g)ii)), if any. Cost includes the costs of construction
of buildings, the costs of machinery and equipment and
interest charges arising from borrowings used to finance
the acquisition of these assets during the period of
construction or installation and testing. No provision for
depreciation is made on construction-in-progress until such
time as the relevant assets are completed and are available
for their intended use. When the assets concerned are ready
for intended use, the costs are transferred to other
categories of property, plant and equipment and

depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the

economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and accounts for each
lease component and any associated non-lease

components as a single lease component for all leases.
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HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

f)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less and leases of low-value assets. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as

an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in

which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable,
the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation

and impairment losses (see note 2(g)(ii)).
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

f)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for separately
from the right-of-use assets in accordance with the
accounting policy applicable to investments in non-equity
securities carried at amortised cost. Any excess of the
nominal value over the initial fair value of the deposits is
accounted for as additional lease payments made and is

included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group's
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use

asset has been reduced to zero.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting

period.
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected

credit losses (“ECLs"”) on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, and

trade and other receivables); and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see
note 2(i)).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls

between the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using

the following discount rates if the effect is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables and contract assets: effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition

or an approximation thereof; and

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective

interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which

the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions

and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date;

and

- lifetime ECLs:

expected to result from all possible default

these are losses that are

events over the expected lives of the items to

which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general

economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is

measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when measuring ECLs, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on
the Group's historical experience and informed
credit assessment, that includes forward-looking

information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is

more than 60 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in

default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as

realising security (if any is held); or

—  the financial asset is 90 days past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying

amount through a loss allowance account.
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future

cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired

includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or

being more than 90 days past due;

—  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not

consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

or
-  the disappearance of an active market for a

security because of financial difficulties of the

issuer.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

9)

i)

ii)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject

to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which

the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer

exists or may have decreased:

- goodwill;

- property, plant and equipment;

- right-of-use assets; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s

statement of financial position.
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2. EAEFHEE) 2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
9) GEFEREERME (#) g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
i) B EREEES EE (&) i) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
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Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows

independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) on a pro-rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value

in use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ERSHBEG@®E) 2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
9 FEBEREERMEE) g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
i) BMEmEEEHE (&) i) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
- REEERED —  Reversals of impairment losses
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favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss
in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
h) Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories

recognised as an expense in the period in which the

reversal occurs.

i) Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(g)(i) and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the

consideration has become unconditional (see note 2(j)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a

corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see

note 2(j)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest

accrued under the effective interest method (see note

2(q)(ii)).
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HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. BEREHBE®@ 2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an

unconditional right to receive consideration and only the

BRrEsR o passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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note 1(g)(i)).
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Subsequently, these
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for

borrowing costs (see note 2(s)).
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I)  Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost

unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in

which case they are stated at cost.
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

m)

n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in

note 2(g)(i).

Employee benefits

i) Short term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay
this amount as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be estimated

reliably.

Annual Report 2023 4

Q3



Q4

=Rl e

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. BAREIHE M@
n) {EREF ()
i) ﬁEZ\T/\LﬁWHa/ﬂ

IEE}H Z%ﬁ%u IEEN‘ES
RIZET 2] ([RFESETE]) © &5
BT EIRA  HREELES

e RMREMEN ETE

DLETE  WREMBEEER
I ER o SRIE S ET 8l 2 & E AR
SEZEEN REE  WHB
VERESATER - ALEY
BEHRFZBHRESHIBEER
BIESFTEIA - ERBEREERF
ZRA - BAEEZEEEREH
HRAIBRIN - ZEHFKTIEER
HEAEHEBABR 2B R TE
BAEE-

FREARZEEZSMAANER
MteREHLHTERRIKE
BrREREZEE - BEREZ
SXBRABEDRERETE
BFREZEBRLOIFE - R
EBERKRE  HELSTERBER
TREXNEAREZS - REL
BAED AL ZEBNEEER
HEB et MRERRAR
YR AE MBS RAEEE
ERAR -

Annual Report 2023 4

2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

n)

ii)

Defined contribution retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all eligible
employees. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ salaries, allowances
and other benefits and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the
Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which
are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions
vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of companies in the PRC participate
in the basic pension plan set up and administered
by local authorities of Ministry of Human Resource
and Social Security. Monthly payments of premiums
on the basic pensions are calculated according to
prescribed bases and percentage by the relevant
local authorities. When employees retire, the
relevant local authorities are obliged to pay the
basic pensions to them. The amounts based on the
above calculations are recognised as liabilities in the
accounting period in which the service has been
rendered by the employees, with a corresponding
charge to the income statement for the current

period or the cost of relevant assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
n) Employee benefits (Continued)

jii)  Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled
share-based payments granted to employees is
measured using the Hull-white model. The amount
is generally recognised as an expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting
period of the awards. The amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards
for which the related service conditions are
expected to be met, such that the amount
ultimately recognised is based on the number of

awards that meet the related service conditions at

the vesting date.

iv)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer

of those benefits and when the Group recognises

costs for a restructuring.

o) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent

that it relates to a business combination, or items

recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in
respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any
uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the

reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising

from dividends.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0)

Income tax (Continued)
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain

criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not

recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences;

—  temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the

foreseeable future;

—  taxable temporary differences arising on the initial

recognition of goodwill; and

—  those related to the income taxes arising from tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted to implement
the Pillar Two model rules published by the
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and

Development.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

o)

P)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which they can be used.
Future taxable profits are determined based on the
reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the
amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to
recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable
profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary
differences, are considered, based on the business plans
for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions
are reversed when the probability of future taxable

profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain

criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

a)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services or
the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in

the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group is the principal for its revenue
transactions and recognises revenue on a gross
basis, including the sale of electronic products that
are sourced externally. In determining whether the
Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers
whether it obtains control of the products before
they are transferred to the customers. Control refers
to the Group's ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits

from the products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties such as

value added tax or other sales taxes.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
g) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer
takes possession of and accepts the products.
Payment terms and conditions vary by
customers and are based on the billing
schedule established in the contracts or
purchase orders with customers, but the
Group generally provides credit terms to
customers up to 1 year upon customer
acceptance. The Group takes advantage of the
practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS
15 and does not adjust the consideration for
any effects of a significant financing
component as the period of financing is 12
months or less. For sales contracts that had an
original expected duration of one year or less,
the Group has not disclosed the information
related to the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations in accordance with
paragraph 121(a) of HKFRS 15.

(i) Revenue from other sources and other income

(a)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method. The "effective
interest rate” is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. In
calculating interest income, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset is not
credit impaired). However, for financial assets
that have become credit-impaired subsequent
to initial recognition, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired,
then the calculation of interest income reverts
to the gross basis.
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HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. EASHEE®@® 2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
o AEBRE r)  Translation of foreign currencies
WINEZSHRR 5B zEXRBRE AKX Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
SEETARSNEE respective functional currencies of Group companies at

the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

RBEHBRUAINEHECEREER Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
BELREAEXRERNEEE - & currencies are translated into the functional currency at
REEGENIINETENFEREE the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary
REERZATEEENERBRER assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a
I RE & HE o LAGNEE T (B IR £ Bk AN 5t foreign currency are translated into the functional
ENFEBEERBERRSH HHTE currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
RGBS - [EHLEB—RNIERER determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are

measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally

recognised in profit or loss.

R ABREUTHEEEEZINEZE However, foreign currency differences arising from the

RPN H th 2 R T AR translation of the following items are recognised in OClI:

- BEREBHMEEKEZEAT - an investment in equity securities designated as at
B E2BRABLH2EE FVOC;

- KBERBEBE M BINEBKER —  afinancial liability designated as a hedge of the net
BFBE P eMmBE & investment in a foreign operation to the extent that

the hedge is effective; and

— AR EBRBERE - - qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the

hedges are effective.

BIEBZ2EEREBE (BRBRKEE The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including
EZBABRATFERAE) KEREEH goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
ZERBE BB  BINER ZWA acquisition, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
MRATIER S Bz EEBE BET - exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and

expenses of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates at the dates of the

transactions.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)
Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the

extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or
partially such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the exchange
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. On
disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that foreign operation that have been
attributed to the NCI shall be derecognised, but shall not
be reclassified to profit or loss. If the Group disposes of
part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, then
the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is
reattributed to NCI. When the Group disposes of only
part of an associate or joint venture while retaining
significant influence or joint control, the relevant
proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to

profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in

the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties

t)

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

i) has significant influence over the Group; or

iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

ii)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

v) A person identified in note 2(t)(a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

vi)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

t)

u)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group's chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business

and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a

majority of these criteria.
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HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BIBRZE2D 3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
RAFE  KREBRRRGEVIEHRRE - In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
EEXREREASHMAE ([BESEHAD and amended HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
AE)EHIR_E-_=F—HF—H=%Z Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time,
BB EEBEREER Y TR which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
BASFI BB HME LR ZBFTA : beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the preparation of

the consolidated financial statements:

BHEETENE IR SHBRZEE Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
ZETARRER HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies
B EEAE
T3 E B 25%
BB EREY eitfhiizER Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
ZAEFTAR Estimates
BASHERNEI2 HE-IZFEENE Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to
S ZAEFT AR ENEEREAZE Assets and Liabilities Arising
EFTISHR from a Single Transaction
ERGRTEAE12 BEERAREE - & Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
i ZAEFT AR ZHRAIE AR — Pillar Two Model Rules
ERMBWELD RREH HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
E175%
ERVHEHREED BIIEFEYBHRSE Amendments to HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17
EN WA N A 551758
ERMBWELEL  YIRERE BB ®R Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of
FNTRZETAR HEAFI7THRLE HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9
75 B 75 5 2E I 9 - Comparative Information
5% - LR E R
NAEERERFIIRLKEITEEHBERSE The application of the new and amended HKFRSs in the
R ZEBFTAERNEERNAFERBAEF current year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
EHBMERAERE R SZEEE 05 positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
BERFEBZHBETESATE - or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting

policies which are described in note 2, management has

made certain key assumptions concerning the future, and

other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of

the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, as

discussed below.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives
of and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
actual useful lives of assets of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
significant technical innovations and competitor
actions in response to industry cycles. Management
will increase the depreciation charges where useful
lives are less than previously estimated, or will write
off or write down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or

sold.
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HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

ii)

Estimation of impairment of property, plant and
equipment

If circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
an item of the property, plant and equipment may
not be recoverable, the asset may be considered
“impaired”, and an impairment loss may be
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for impairment of
property, plant and equipment as described in note
2(g)(ii). The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed
periodically in order to assess whether the
recoverable amounts have declined below the
carrying amounts. These assets are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. When such a
decline has occurred, the carrying amount is
reduced to recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and the value in use. In
determining the value in use, expected future cash
flows generated by the asset are discounted to their
present value, which requires significant judgement
relating to the level of revenue and amount of
operating costs. The Group uses all readily available
information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of the
level of revenue and amount of operating costs.
Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could
result in additional impairment loss or reversal of
impairment in future periods. As at 31 December
2023, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment is approximately HK$131,610,000 (2022:
HK$164,273,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

fif)

iv)

Estimation of impairment of right-of-use assets

The Group performs annual assessments on whether
there has been impairment of these assets in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
stated in note 2(g)(ii). The recoverable amounts of
cash-generating units are determined based on
value in use calculations. These calculations require
the use of estimates and assumptions made by
management on the future operation of the
business, pre-tax discount rates, and other
assumptions underlying the value in use
calculations. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying
amount of right-of-use assets is approximately
HK$82,519,000 (2022: HK$88,741,000).

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables

The Group estimates the impairment loss
allowances for trade receivables by assessing the
ECLs. This requires the use of estimates and
judgements. ECLs are based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the end of the reporting period.
Where the estimation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will affect the carrying
amount of trade receivables and thus the
impairment loss in the period in which such
estimate is changed. The Group keeps assessing the
expected credit loss of trade receivables during their
expected lives. As at 31 December 2023, the
carrying amount of trade receivables is
approximately HK$418,613,000 (2022:
HK$476,680,000). Details of the impairment of
trade receivables are disclosed in notes 21 and
33(a).
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4. BESFABFRMGHTIREEZE
EXRR (&)

a) fﬁ%$ﬁiﬁ2$§w§(ﬁi>
v) HFEZAEEFE
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K& 78R - Af S FFETIRIEA
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SRR A RETHENR 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
v)  Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is determined
on the basis of the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated cost of
completion and the estimated cost necessary to
make the sale. These estimates are based on the
current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of
similar nature. The directors of the Company
estimate the net realisable value for inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the directors of the Company
performed periodic review on a product-by-product
basis and made a write-down of its inventories of
approximately HK$65,320,000 (2022: HK$417,000)
and no reversal of write-down of inventories was
made (2022: HK$45,000).

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group's accounting policies

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets and
liabilities, the Group makes assumptions for the effects
of uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities
at the end of each reporting period. These estimates
involve assumptions about such items as cash flows and
discount rates used. The Group's estimates and
assumptions are based on historical experience and
expectations of future events and are reviewed
periodically. In addition to assumptions and estimations
of future events, judgements are also made during the

process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
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4. BESFHABFRMGHFIREEZE
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the

Group's accounting policies (Continued)

i)

ii)

Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income tax in Hong Kong
and various taxes in the PRC. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision for taxation.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based
on estimates of whether additional tax will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences are recognised as management
considers it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate,
such differences will impact the recognition of
deferred tax assets and tax charge in the periods in
which such estimate is changed. In this regard, the
Group recognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$7,273,000 (2022: HK$6,813,000)
as at 31 December 2023.

Withholding tax arising from distribution of
dividends

The Group's determination as to whether to accrue
for withholding tax arising from distribution of
dividends from certain subsidiaries according to the
relevant tax law and regulations is subject to
judgement on the timing of the payment of
dividends. The Group considers that if the profits of
these subsidiaries will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future, then no withholding tax should
be provided.

Annual Report 2023 4

109



i © 81 5 IR & B 5E
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. WA 5. REVENUE
WAEHEFEFPZ2EMBEEEE (TEE Revenue represents the sales value of goods supplied to
EEHLKEMEERIE)  LHREMNRE customers which excludes value-added and other sales taxes,
RESHH - and is after deduction of any goods returns and trade
discounts.
REAHNBPZWANRERFEBER - & Revenue from contracts with customers are recognised at point
BEHNBEPZWAZAITMAT in time and the disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers are as follows:

BLoH fit X 2 8 @5t

Rare Earth Segment Refractory Segment Total
“B-=f -“ZI--% CZE-=f -"FT--F CZBZZf “T-"F
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

TER AL TR AL TR AL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000

TEERER Types of major products

HEMTEm Sales of rare earth products

-HLIEtn ~ Rare earth oxides 469,423 546,615 - - 469,423 546,615
HEMNEm Sales of refractory products

— AR R - Refractory materials - - 167,237 205,999 167,237 205,999
14 - Magnesium grains - - 49,413 57,799 49,413 57,799
it Sub-total - - 216,650 263,798 216,650 263,798
Fobs Total 469,423 546,615 216,650 263,798 686,073 810,413
HETHZ Geographical markets

m The PRC 461,023 531,872 168,447 179,457 629,470 711,329
BA Japan 8,400 14,351 34,617 48,239 43,017 62,590
B Europe - = 1,083 786 1,083 786
Hith Others - 392 12,503 35,316 12,503 35,708
ozt Total 469,423 546,615 216,650 263,798 686,073 810,413
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WA (48)

FRAEEBAREZER
HERIRMAERZBARINERR
NEEFZEMMEPEME R RMAE
BEZEBRRERSHEISERT  BE
EZRBGBEHREBUEERRN  EFEF
Al —MEABRNRE FEH BN TN
202180 - MEERHFZEFAAZS
3650 °

REVENUE (Continued)

Information about the Group’s performance obligation

The performance obligation for sales of rare earth and

refractory products is satisfied upon delivery of the goods at

the customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time

when the customers have accepted the goods and the related

risks and rewards of ownership. The trading terms with

customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers,

where payment in advance is normally required. The credit

period is generally ranged from 0 to 180 days and up to 365

days for reputable customers upon delivery.

Hplr A OTHER INCOME
—E2-= —E-=

2023 2022
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
RITIFARA B WA Interest income from bank deposits 2,862 4,872
R 478 B (BT %) Government grants (note) - 48
2,862 4,920

MiaZ: BE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE
A RNEER BB ERIITERERTH L
AR NEETIEZRuETEESH
BhA 48,0008 L (ZT==5F : £&)

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was
granted subsidies of HK$48,000 (2023: Nil) in total under the
Employment Support Scheme launched by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the payment of

wages of employees.
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HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

7. HitEBEFEREMEERX 7. OTHER NET LOSS AND OTHER OPERATING
EXPENSES
—E=-= —E-C
2023 2022
THER FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
Hfth &5 18 F B Other net loss
[E 5z (F518) %5 Net exchange gain/(loss) 611 (7,925)
RIS BEZREBEFE: Net impairment losses recognised on:
— U BR X — trade receivables (4,938) (15,244)
— L it & U R — other receivables (4) (44)
HEME  BERZEZ Net gain on disposal of property,
W25 % 4m plant and equipment - 397
Hit Others (6,933) 152
(11,264) (22,664)
HiR&Emx Other operating expenses
TIEFREE TR (B aE) Cost of remedial works for soil
pollution (note) - (326,412)

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group conducted
an environmental investigation on the soil and groundwater at

WiE: BE-Z--—F+-A=+—-BI#F
B R E MBI R SR R R

112

ERO%  AEBEEEFBEFKFE L
BERDR (REERK Y B AR) K
ERHEFAEME £ TKETR
BRE - BERSE  BELEZETS
AYERBIE BEETETHETLE-
BYE=FEETHKRIRE  B1EER
ERLTE #EIRREZE2RE  YE
KRB —F+=-A%K  MEHWBF
BAUARRIRE Al REZE=
T _—F+_A=t+—RHUEFEHHERE
28 B8 K 7K 49326,412,0008 7T A E At
KERAY -
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the area of the factory of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth
Company Limited, a subsidiary established at Yixing, and its
surrounding area upon the implementation of the new
environmental protection regulations by the local government in
the year. It was reported that certain excessive pollutants on the
related soil was noted and certain maintenance works was
necessary. Remedial works including removal of polluted soil,
maintenance works and safety check were carried out by an
independent third party and completed in December 2022 and
the local government authority was satisfied with the results. As
such, the related cost at approximately HK$326,412,000 was
recognised as other operating expenses during the year ended
31 December 2022.
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

BB AEE 8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
BTiAl S EE HIkR T3 %18 Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:
—ZE—_= —TE-—F
2023 2022
TExT FHAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
a) B#EA a) Finance costs
BIRER 2 FE Interest on discounted bills 248 218
HEABZHE Interest on lease liabilities 61 79
309 297
b) BT A (BIFEKZE10 b) Staff costs (including directors’
FFEzEEME) " remuneration in note 10)*
HehIA Salaries and wages 30,179 33,059
BRHEE ARG AEM 2 Equity-settled share-based payment
3R R 2 (FT3E28) expenses (note 28) 3,474 959
R RAE B ET B 5K Retirement benefits scheme
(FF7E12) contributions (note 12) 2,333 2,362
35,986 36,380
o HfEH c) Other items
1% 25 A B < Auditor’s remuneration
— R — audit services 2,000 2,410
— H b R 75 — other services 300 575
2,300 2,985
FERA (HfzE20(b)) # Cost of inventories (note 20(b))* 837,388 809,297
W BE MBI E Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment* 30,505 34,744
FHEEEZE Depreciation of right-of-use assets? 3,393 3,551
@ HE_Z-_=—F+-_A=+—BHILFER " 5 During the year ended 31 December 2023, cost of inventories
FERABEEREINA NE BE included approximately HK$47,660,000 (2022: HK$54,086,000)
KRBT EANLFERAEREEENEY relating to staff costs, depreciation of property, plant and
47,660,000/ 7T (=& = =4 : 54,086,000 equipment and depreciation of right-of-use assets which
BIL) c BEARENRERSENERAGA amounts were also included in the respective total amounts
EXEURBE 2 BEA - disclosed separately above for each of these types of expenses.
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FRBEZEHEEMAL  RERSE
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HREBEE T _=ZFR_T__#
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9. HREABRARAZENR 9. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS
a) HMEBRRANZFBHIIE: a) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:
—EZ=F —F-—
2023 2022
FTERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
REBE-PECEMER Current tax — PRC Enterprise
Income Tax
NEE A (M 7E25(a)) Provision for the year (note 25(a)) - (2,456)
ELEB IR Deferred taxation
TR EREERED Origination and reversal of
(Pff3x25(b)) temporary differences (note 25(b)) 561 725
FIERiE e, /(X ) Income tax credit/(charge) 561 (1,731)

The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands,
respectively, are not subject to any income tax pursuant
to the rules and regulations of their respective countries

of incorporation.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 as the
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the
year were offset with the accumulated tax losses brought

forward.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the statutory
income tax rate of 25% on the estimated assessable
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

GEBERAZAEH (H)

a)

b)

(%)

FRECEAEHETREE —FFTN
F-A—REPENMERRRLEN
(BREE®) KRR 2K F B AE5%
H10% 5 R H AN TR

BhxhEEBERZRIZERM

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

a)

(Continued)

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law also requires
withholding tax of 5% or 10% upon distribution of
profits by the PRC subsidiaries since 1 January 2008 to its

overseas (including Hong Kong) shareholders.

Reconciliation between income tax charge and

%aJr%;Z“q‘E\EKZDT : accounting loss at applicable tax rates is as follows:
—E-= —E -4
2023 2022
TERT FHBT
HK$'000 HK$'000
Br 75 A B 18 Loss before taxation (210,165) (391,946)
PR A1 B BIR & B A Notional tax on loss before taxation,
HREREEHREAE calculated at statutory tax rates
ZHBEMEA applicable to the respective tax
jurisdictions concerned (51,989) (100,380)
AR ENT Kz FRig g & Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 19,677 2,076
BRERRBA BB E Tax effect of non-taxable income (1,624)
AERRBEEZRETE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 32,120 101,054
AEREREZE 7RG E Tax effect of temporary differences
not recognised 1,384 1,446
HRAEAMARERTEEEZ Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
B2 previously not recognised (129) (153)
hEf B AREREEREERY  Tax effect of concessionary tax rate
MG E granted to a PRC subsidiary - =
MEBH 2 HBTE Tax effect on change in tax rate - (2,312)
FTigf (Ee),/ X Income tax (credit)/charge (561) 1,731
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10. EEM2 10. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
BIEAREFEIBMER AR (KEEE Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of
M= BER) ROFE2BHBENESHE T ¢ the CO and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

ZE-CE
2023

58 BER RIER URGA

i E20k BNEA BisEA FEER  ERZAR @zt
Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefits Share-

Directors’  and benefit-  Discretionary scheme based
fees in-kind bonus  contributions payments Total

TR TiEn TR TiEn TR TiEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000

YrES Executive directors

Er R L (W) Ms. Qian Yuanying (note (i) - 1,099 - - - 1,099

BERERE Mr. Jiang Quanlong - 1,430 - - - 1,430

BARLAE (W) Mr. Jiang Dawei (note (ii) - M - 9 . 220

ETEAE Mr. Jiang Cainan - 302 - - - 302
SR . S LN .1

BUFHTES Independent non-executive

directors

REERA Mr. Huang Chunhua n - - - - n

TEEH Mr. Jin Zhong 40 - - - - 20

BAT A (7)) Mr. Dou Xuehong (note (ii)) 67 - - R - 67
,,,,,,,, L TT......m

st Total 179 3,002 - 9 - 3,230
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HE-_ZT-=F+=-A=+—HILFZ For the year ended 31 December 2023

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

S =
2022
e RER RIKEA b
EESk ENEN BBt MY RRZAR 5t
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits Share-
Directors'  and benefit-  Discretionary scheme based
fees in-kind bonus  contributions payments Total
THEL THEL THEL THEL THEL THEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HrES Executive directors
B ErL (W) Ms. Qian Yuanying (note (i) - 1,099 - = - 1,099
BREXE Mr. Jiang Quanlong - 1430 - - - 1430
BARREE (W) Mr. Jiang Dawei (note (i) - 205 - 9 i 214
EAERE Mr. Jiang Cainan - 317 - - - 317
= 3,051 = 9 - 3,060
BUHTES Independent non-executive
directors
BEERKE Mr. Huang Chunhua 7 - - - _ 7
SERE Mr. Jin Zhong Iy - - - - Iy
EBL L (W) Mr. Dou Xuehong (note (ii)) 70 - - - _ 70
184 = = = = 184
@5t Total 184 3,051 - 9 - 3,244
BT Notes:

(i) BLTRLINBEARZERE -

(i) BARBEETRARDRZITHAEH

(i) BBREAEN-_T-_=F+_A=1+HH

o

HE-_ZTZ-_=FfK-_ZTZ-_-_fF+—-AH

Zt-BLFEA BEESERAKER
REMME  ER/TBMAREERMA
AE B 2 RENHREBAEE o 10 5% M (E 4
B BEEFHEAFAERETCAHE -

(i) Ms. Qian Yuanying is also the Chairman of the Company.

(i) Mr. Jiang Dawei is also the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

(i) ~ Mr. Dou Xuehong passed away on 30 December 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
director received any emoluments from the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No director has waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

Annual Report 2023 4

117



118

i © 81 5 IR & B 5E
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. BEFATIREREEAEMS 11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S EMOLUMENTS
a) BAEEFAL a) Five highest paid individuals
BHE_T-_=F+-A=1+—HLHF During the year ended 31 December 2023, out of the
B AEBREESHFALF  HAF five highest paid individuals in the Group, two (2022:
ME(CE-—F WA) BARAE two) are directors of the Company whose emoluments
E-HMEANFI0ORE -HH%B=4 are disclosed in note 10. The aggregate emoluments in
(ZEZZF  =R) g ALzH respect of the remaining three (2022: three) highest paid
SHEBNOT individuals are as follows:
—EC-=F — T
2023 2022
THER TET
HKS’000 HK$'000
He hEMmMe Salaries and other emoluments 1,261 2,152
BB TEAT Discretionary bonus - -
RORIEF FT 2R Retirement benefits scheme
contributions 110 161
EREE AR AR Equity-settled share-based payment
B expenses 2,290 120
3,661 2,433
E®B=%(ZE-—F: =%) 5% The emoluments of the remaining three (2022: three)

AEZBMENFRTIIEE :

highest paid individuals are within the following band:

—E-= —E2-=
2023 2022
AE AH
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

£E : Bands:

= —1,000,000%8 7T Nil — HK$1,000,000 - 2
1,000,001/8 7t — 1,500,000/t  HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 3 1
3 3
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

"N, BEFALREREEAEMS @  11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

a) HEERBIHAL(HE) a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
BHE-_Z_=F#cK_ZT-__%+—-A No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to
=T —HIEFE AEETEEAL the five highest paid individuals as inducement to join or
o AT NS EMERBME - 1F upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
75 5% B E o0 A SR I A AR & B I A 5 office during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
i e Rl Sk i £ 2022.

b) EREBAEME b) Senior management’s emoluments
ENSEMNTSREREAE (T8 The emoluments paid or payable to senior management,
52 PREXFBEEZMA (= excluding the directors, (including two (2022: three)
ToFZRA)BEaeg AL ZHEN highest paid individuals as disclosed above) are within the
FRTHNEEE : following bands:

—E=-= —E -4
2023 2022
AH A
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

gE : Bands:
= —1,000,000/ 7T Nil = HK$1,000,000 4 4
1,000,001%7c— 1,500,000 7t  HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 2 1
6 5

HE-ZZT-_=F+-F=+—HLHF
EHE —R2afEBEABET (=
T—— . 4E) o

= __

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one individual

of senior management resigned (2022: Nil).
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HE-T=

12.

BERKER
mAEBRANRGEOINHRE  ARERN

FEKZZHBARAREERESRE
BEEAHENETANLZEBKEY

BARETE (—BEAEHERIRKEEE) < B
ERREEEFR R HBEIREBRKGE
BEXM ZEMBARKREFHKIN
BAXNERERARE ﬁﬁMEA@ 3 Y
RKERAM-BZE —=F+=FH
:+—E¢¢FvﬁW%QMﬁ%mﬁ
2,211,000/ 7T (ZF = Z 4 : 2,221,000/%
TC) © et BB R B o

AEEE_TTETF+_A—HEEZ2H
mElEREeETE ([BERTE]) - Zat
EAACHRFENRESHE - AEEEF AR
BEEAHEETEA L AZTEIHR -
HE-_Z_ZF+_A=+—HILEE "
REE mREEETEIHERRA122,0008 7T (=
T ZF :141,00087T) c RIEEMEE
HASENEESRAES THBLHEE
HEeEEEE - ZarslERAESEE -

BE_ZE_=FK-_ZT__F+=A
=+—BILEFE AEERPEZENRE
FFEIRR BB EESEET &R
Y g 51T A R A B A BT B 25 T AR BB
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12. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

As stipulated by the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC,
the Company's subsidiaries established in the PRC are required
to participate in a state-sponsored retirement plan, which is a
defined contribution pension scheme, for all of their
employees based on certain percentages of the employees’
basic salaries. The state-sponsored retirement plan is
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
retired employees and these subsidiaries have no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or other
post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, the retirement plan
contribution amounted to approximately HK$2,211,000 (2022:
HK$2,221,000). Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group has participated in Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
pension scheme, since 1 December 2000. The Group makes
monthly contribution to the scheme based on certain
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s contributions to the
MPF Scheme were approximately HK$122,000 (2022:
HK$141,000). The assets of the fund are held separately from
the Group and are managed by independent professional fund

managers. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under its retirement
benefit scheme in the PRC and under the MPF Scheme in Hong
Kong which may be used to reduce the existing level of
contributions as described in paragraph 26(2) of Appendix 16
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange.
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment
of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share
The calculation of the basic loss per share to owners of the

Company is based on the following data:

—EB-=fF B
2023 2022
FERT TAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
AEEREABRE AR Loss for the year attributable to owners
HEEABRLEAFERERE of the Company for the purpose of
calculating basic loss per share 200,545 373,296
KRG A
Number of shares
—E-=f —EF--
2023 2022
TR T &
'000 ‘000
SHEEREREEZ Weighted average number of ordinary
T @ A% D N HE 35 & shares for the purpose of calculating
basic loss per share 2,341,700 2,341,700

SR#EEER
HRBE_ZS_=FRk=_FT=_F+=A
=+ —HIEFETEARAR A RTEBR
BREAR#EEYE RAUTRETEREA
FREARERAER

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share equals to the basic loss per share as the
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options would
have anti-dilutive effect during the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. On adoption of HKFRS 8
“Operating segments”, and in a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the Chief
Executive Officer, who has been identified as the Group’s chief
operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has presented two reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments:

Rare earth:  Manufacture and sales of rare earth products

Refractory:  Manufacture and sales of refractory products

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s
CODM monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following

bases:

Segment assets include all tangible and intangible assets,
and current assets with the exception of deferred tax
assets, tax recoverable, unallocated cash and cash
equivalents, and other corporate assets which are
unallocated to an individual reportable segment. Segment
liabilities include trade and other payables, and lease
liabilities attributable to the manufacturing and sales

activities of the individual segments.
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or

amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/(loss) is
“adjusted profit before interest, taxes, depreciation and
("Adjusted EBITDA"). To arrive at the
Adjusted EBITDA, the Group’'s profit/(loss) further

adjusted for items not specifically attributed to an

amortisation”

individual reportable segment, such as directors’
emoluments, auditor’'s remuneration and other

unallocated corporate expenses.

In addition to the receiving of segment information
concerning the Adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s CODM is
provided with segment information concerning revenue
(including inter-segment sales), depreciation,
amortisation, interest income and expenses from bank
balances and borrowings managed directly by the
segments, impairment losses, gain/(loss) on disposal of
property, plant and equipment and additions to
non-current segment assets used by the segments in their
operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with reference

to prices charged to external parties for similar orders.
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=F+=F=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

15.

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

PMEE BERAE(E) a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)
FRRRRETFAEEERELERR Information regarding the Group's reportable segments
ABEIRERRFHDERR ZA as provided to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of
SEERHAEHEIOT : resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance for the year is as follows:
ft fitk @t
Rare earth Refractory Total
ZEZ=E —E-C ZEZZE B C ZEZZE ZF-C
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ThAn TAL ThER THL TAn THEL
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REHNEE WA Revenue from external customers 469,423 546,615 216,650 263798 686,073 810413
AHERA Inter-segment revenue - - - - R -
EEDETON Reportable segment revenue 469,423 546,615 216,650 263,798 686,073 810,413
2EAHB(EE)/ 57 Reportable segment (loss)/profit

(33 %ERITDA) (Adjusted EBITDA) (162,363) (370,062) 2,209 22,810 (160,154) (347,252)
HEHA Interest income 44 1,942 2,419 2,929 2,861 4,871
ABRA Finance costs - - (248) (218) (248) (218)
n% BERZE Depreciation of property,

HE plant and equipment (15,210) (17,061) (15,223) (17,612) (30,433) (34,673)
EREEEEINE Depreciation of right-of-use assets (1,622) (1,706) (1,403) (1,476) (3,025) (3,182)
(%) /#E 38  Net impairment loss (recognised)/

LREEEFE reversed on:

— R - trade receivables (5,467) (10,440) 529 (4,804) (4,938) (15,244)
—H R - other receivables 66 2 (70) (46) 0] (44)
HENE BERRE  (Loss)/gain on disposal of property,

2 (B8)/ i plant and equipment - (269) - 667 - 398
HERBATZUE  Gainon disposal of a subsidiary - - 5,719 - 5,719 -
ERPPEE Reportable segment assets 816,823 1,016,066 1,707,882 1,776,121 2,524,705 2,792,187
REFRE Additions to non-current

AHEE segment assets:

0% BERR ~ Property, plant and equipment - 562 8 6,395 8 6,957
ZRAIBEE Reportable segment liabilities 390,126 402,141 78,678 103,589 468,804 505,730
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7 EB R & () 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
b) EHBIPURA - BANBEE -BEER b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,
BB 2R profit or loss, assets and liabilities
—E-= —E -4
2023 2022
TERT TAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
WA Revenue
BTN Reportable segment revenue 686,073 810,413
i 3 26 A A Elimination of inter-segment revenue - -
N Consolidated revenue 686,073 810,413
i Fl R 1B Profit or loss
SRS ER Reportable segment loss (160,154) (347,252)
i 8H > =26 [ K Sk B 18 Elimination of inter-segment profit or loss - -
REAEEBHIINEEZ Reportable segment loss derived from
EWmHHEE Group's external customers (160,154) (347,252)
FMEHA Interest income 2,862 4,872
ME - BEREEZINE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (30,505) (34,744)
FREEEZTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets (3,393) (3,551)
EEREE AR BER 2 3 Equity-settled share-based payment
X expenses (9,060) (959)
B 75 K 2R Finance costs (309) (297)
ROBEEREZ Unallocated corporate expenses (9,606) (10,015)
mAERMAEE Consolidated loss before taxation (210,165) (391,946)
e (L H) Income tax credit/(charge) 561 (1,731)
RERTEEE Consolidated loss after taxation (209,604) (393,677)
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15. 2 & |E (#) 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
b) ER/BUA - BFREE -BEER b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,
EEZYR(E) profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)
—E-= g
2023 2022
TERT FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
ERHEEE Reportable segment assets 2,524,705 2,792,187
6 2> 0 R FE Uk 3R Elimination of inter-segment receivables (381,130) (392,314)
2,143,575 2,399,873
ANBHIRE RIRELEEEA  Unallocated cash and cash equivalents 932 73
ROBEERE Unallocated corporate assets 1,194 1,960
EEHBEE Deferred tax assets 7,273 6,813
A Y [0 7 18 Tax recoverable 729 911
TEEAERE Consolidated total assets 2,153,703 2,409,630
afE Liabilities
ERHEEE Reportable segment liabilities 468,804 505,730
Hi61 85 5 2B R FE A< 20 Elimination of inter-segment payables (381,130) (392,314)
87,674 113,416
AORGCEER Unallocated corporate liabilities 19,459 17,234
I8 Tax payable 2,414 2,544
meEBEeE Consolidated total liabilities 109,547 133,194
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15.

HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
¢) Geographical information

i)

Revenue from external customers

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of the Group’s revenue from
external customers. The geographical location of
customers is based on the location at which the

goods were delivered.

—E=HE —E-F
2023 2022
FEx FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
H B (R Bh) The PRC (place of domicile) 629,470 711,329
H 7 Japan 43,017 62,590
B M Europe 1,083 786
H A Others 12,503 35,708
56,603 99,084
686,073 810,413

1 EH B EE i) Specified non-current assets

AEBZBEERDEE  0F
mE BERRE REAE
RAEE -

HZERTIRDEECHRUE
DRBEONEEERME LR (G
NE - BERRBREREEE
mE): K)oz 2 EME
W (GAEmEms) &

The Group's specified non-current assets comprise
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets

and goodwill.

The geographical location of these specified
non-current assets is based on (i) the physical
location of the assets, in the case of property, plant
and equipment, and right-of-use assets and (ii) the
location of the operation to which they are

allocated, in the case of goodwill.
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15. 2 &8 & (#) 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
o HEER(H) ¢) Geographical information (Continued)

i) BHEHTBEEE) i) Specified non-current assets (Continued)

ZERTHRBEEZHEMNE The geographical locations of these specified
E RN non-current assets are set out below:
—E=-= B
2023 2022
FERT FHBIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
R (GEf ) The PRC (place of domicile) 213,142 251,596
BB Hong Kong 987 1,418
214,129 253,014
d EFHEETEEFZER d) Information about major customers
REFERNEINEE ZWAEANEERR Revenue from external customers individually
WA10% 3 A IR contributing 10% or more of the Group's total revenue is
as follows:
Mt fit K st
Rare earth Refractory Total

“B-=f -—ZT-- “E-=f -—ZT--F ZB-ZE -ZT--F
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Thn THT ThL TATL THT TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

EEA Customer A 213,636 87,358 - - 213,636 87,358
ZFB Customer B 134,101 89,235 - - 134,101 89,235
XEC Customer C - 173,893 - - - 173,893
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023
16. GOODWILL
FAET
HK$'000
DS Cost
R-ZE-_—%—H—H At 1 January 2022 216,900
fER=E Exchange differences (6,810)

RZE-_—_F+-A=+—H

At 31 December 2022

k=—ZT=—=%—HF—H and 1 January 2023 210,090
HEKBARIEBEUEER Derecognised upon disposal of a subsidiary (72,280)
EHER Exchange differences (1,270)
R-ZE-_=%+-F=+—H At 31 December 2023 136,540

Z5HRE Accumulated impairment
R-ZZE_—_F—H—H At 1 January 2022 216,900
MEHER Exchange differences (6,810)

RZE-_—_F+=-_A=+—8

At 31 December 2022

EF—E-_=%—A—H and 1 January 2023 210,090
HEWNB R RBEBCHER Derecognised upon disposal of a subsidiary (72,280)
EH =2 Exchange differences (1,270)
R-ZBE-_=%+-F=+—H At 31 December 2023 136,540

BREE Carrying amount

RZEZ=FK
- _F+=ZR=+—8H

WBTIHHERR 2 REREEZH
BRWEKABEANSENKERBRR
BARNEENBEZ A ERR ZHA

At 31 December 2023
and 2022 -

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of equity interests in
the following subsidiaries represented the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's interest in the fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired at the date of

acquisition:
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16. HE (&) 16. GOODWILL (Continued)
WELREE Wi B & 2 TEEH
Name of subsidiary Date of acquisition ~ Segment Principal activities
EHPE=EEEERAR ((BRBE]) —ETNE iy N 53 6 RERHERRMEER
—A=thH
Wauxi Xinwei High Temperature Ceramics 29 January 2004 Refractory segment Manufacturing and sales of high
Co., Ltd. (“High Temperature Ceramics"”) temperature ceramics products
WESREEZREMEEZEE2E NN The goodwill arising from the acquisition of equity interests in
EFEZHRMAE High Temperature Ceramics has been fully impaired in previous
years.
17. WE - -BERKE 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
B BAERME
BRET HERRE REE RE ERIR BE
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor Construction-
ownuse equipment and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total

TATL TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

B Cost
R-Z--—%-f-g  Atllanuary 2022 259,691 696,254 4,203 8,354 45,655 1,014,157
TE Additions 463 1,789 2 351 4332 6,957
EE Disposal = (18,988) (976) (742) - (20,706)
HERTREA Transfer from
construction-in-progress - 47,965 - - (47,965) -
EnZR Exchange differences (22,027) (60,304) (287) (691) (2,022) (85,331)
i At 31 December 2022 and
+-A=+-Hk 1 January 2023
“Z-=f#-f-H 238,127 666,716 2,962 1,212 - 915,077
RNE Additions - - 18 - - 18
sy Written off - (45,899) (14) - - (45,913)
HERBARZEERER  Derecognised upon disposal
of a subsidiary (20,544) (37,795) (284) (1,974) - (60,597)
EREZR Exchange differences (3,454) (9,283) (38) (110) - (12,885)
W_ZE-=f At 31 December 2023
+-A=1+-H 214,129 573,739 2,644 5,188 - 795,700
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

B BAERE
BRET HERRE R#EE RE ERIR aE
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor Construction-
ownuse  equipment and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total
TET TET TET TET TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ZAHERARE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
W-ZE-_—%-F—-H At 1 January 2022 232,593 561,470 3,978 6,913 - 804,954
AEER Charge for the year 5,189 29,206 90 259 - 34,744
R E D Written back on disposal - (18,988) (975) (111) - (20,074)
EHZE Exchange differences (19,931) (48,012) (284) (593) - (68,820)
RZE-—F At 31 December 2022
+ZA=+-Hk and 1 January 2023
“Z-=f-f-H 217,851 523,676 2,809 6,468 - 750,804
KERAHE Charge for the year 3,484 26,800 85 136 - 30,505
W g Eliminated on written off - (45,899) (14) - - (45,913)
HERBARRRH Derecognised upon disposal
B2 of a subsidiary (20530)  (37,781) (280) (1,952) - (60,543)
EHZE Exchange differences (3,189) (7,437) (37) (100) - (10,763)
RZZEZ=F At 31 December 2023
+-A=+—H 197,616 459,359 2,563 4,552 - 664,090
REE Carrying amount
RZE-=F At 31 December 2023
+ZA=+—-A 16,513 114,380 81 636 - 131,610
WZE-_F At 31 December 2022
+-A=1—H 20,276 143,040 153 804 - 164,273
B Notes:
(i) R_E-_=ZFER_ZT__F+_-A1 (i) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the buildings held for own
=+—B KEEREFHIURTER use were situated on lands held under medium-term leases in the
BhHEERE 2L - PRC.

(ii) R-B-_=FR-_T-_—F+-A=+—
B EEABANTAILZE TEFEER
F—RBTEHRITRME ZIKFR -

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, certain buildings with
aggregate carrying amount of zero were pledged to a bank as
collateral for banking facilities.
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18. EREEE 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
FHE L i HEWF et
Leasehold Leased
lands properties Total
FHT FHT FHExT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZZBE-_—_F—HF—H At 1 January 2022 98,874 1,662 100,536
FRHTEE R (M) Depreciation charge for
the year (note (i) (3,182) (369) (3,551)
EHER Exchange differences (8,244) = (8,244)
i At 31 December 2022
+—A=t+t—HEK and 1 January 2023
—E-_=F—H—H 87,448 1,293 88,741
FRPTEFE (FEEG)) Depreciation charge for
the year (note (i) (3,025) (368) (3,393)
HERBARBZIOETR  Derecognition upon disposal
of a subsidiary (1,600) - (1,600)
EHER Exchange differences (1,229) - (1,229)
i At 31 December 2023
+=—A=+—H 81,594 925 82,519
—E_=H —E-=
2023 2022
FHExT FHExT
HK$000 HK$'000
ENEEARE Settlement of lease liabilities 432 432
REEERBERS Expenses relating to short-term leases 889 935
HEZRe Rt @5 Total cash outflows for leases 1,321 1,367
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18. EAEEE (&)

EREEEREREAEREGFAERSF
HRAEEH (ABEERE) NFTHRITE -

R—_E—=ZFk_FE-_—F+=-F=+—
B e+ RTRAPHEASES -

GEE

()

& IR 49533,0008 T (22 = —
561,0007% 7T) &%2,860,000/8 7T (Z T = —
F:2,990,0008 ) R RIFFABE=T
—ZF T A=t BHLFERABRER
RHERARERERN °

RZZEZ_=F+-A=+—8 RAEHN
36,444,000 7T (=% — — 4 : 38,502,000
BT 2 ETHE LB ER T —RRTHE
RIBITME ZHERG -
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease

terms.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, leasehold lands were

located in the PRC with medium-term leases.

Notes:

()  The depreciation charges of approximately HK$533,000 (2022:
HK$561,000) and HK$2,860,000 (2022: HK$2,990,000) were
included in cost of sales and administrative expenses,
respectively, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

(i)  As at 31 December 2023, certain leasehold lands with carrying
amount of approximately HK$36,444,000 (2022:
HK$38,502,000) were pledged to a bank as collateral for
banking facilities.
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19.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
As at 31 December 2023, the particulars of the Company’s

BARZFHBNT : subsidiaries are as follows:
FERER LA
Proportion of ownership interest
ARAL/ AT BRAREAR A58 -EHE
KRARER PAEYEE: L bk RAz#E EREE  ALN9RA ke TERE
Place and date of Particulars of Effective
incorporation/ Place of issuedand interest of Held by Held by
Name of subsidiary establishment business paid up capital ~ the Group  the Company  a subsidiary  Principal activities
% % %
HHERERAR ABRIES fit3t(0) NWREHKERE 100 100 - REBRK
-ARETZA=H Zn2EAR
Lee Shing Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Note (d) 20 ordinary shares 100 100 = Investment holding
3 December 1998 of USS1 each
EHERES (L8 ERAT hE hE AfEx 100 100 - B5hiEn
(Wit(a)) k&= 2l 1 = 200000£7
Wellfre (Shanghai) Company Limited The PRC The PRC  Registered capital 100 100 - Trading of rare earth
(note (a)) 24 February 2000 US$200,000 products
Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc. AERAES fi3H0) WRERER 100 = 100 REZR
23T RA=1-H 1R ERR
Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc. British Virgin Islands Note (d) 2 ordinary shares 100 - 100 Investment holding
31 May 2000 of US§1 each
HEAARR L ERAT hE hE #fER 9 - % HEREERIER
(Hfitlo) —“AAZELATLE 15,860 000570
Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth The PRC ThePRC Registered capital 9 - 95 Manufacturing and sales
Company Limited (note (b)) 17 July 1993 15$15,660,000 of rare earth products
HIBR A (HiE(a)) Gl i HER 100 - 100 SHERHERMAER
“AMNELAZTH 17,000,000% 72
Leeshing Refractory (note (a)) The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and sales
30 July 1999 US$17,000,000 of refractory products
WHERERAR &b & LRk 100 - 00 B5%LER
“AANETAZT=E ®T
Microtech Resources Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 - 100 Trading of rare earth
23 October 1998 HK$2 products
hERLESERA B it il 100 - 00 EEXE
ZEERECACtEA AT
China Rare Earth Trading Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 - 100 Inactive
24 March 2000 HK$2
BEBEE (M) e el AR 100 - 100 BEREESEBEER
“T32EMA-A 30,000,007
High Temperature Ceramics (note (3)) The PRC The PRC  Registered capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and sales
1 April 2002 HK$30,000,000 of high temperature
ceramics products
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GOBREM:

HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MWEARZRE (@) 19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
FERRRLA
Proportion of ownership interest
HRAL/RY BRTREME A%H -fBHE
KRARER PA:EYEE B RAzE EREE  ADEKA NERE  TEER
Place and date of Particulars of Effective
incorporation/ Place of issuedand interest of Held by Held by
Name of subsidiary establishment husiness paid up capital the Group  the Company  a subsidiary  Principal activities
% % %
ERGREFEBMHERAT +8 e AMER 100 - 100 HEREERAARER
(Hit(al) ZEREAACTLE 3,000 00057
Yixing Wellfire Nonmetal Materials The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and sales
Co, Ltd. (note (a)) 27 September 2006 US$3,000,000 of refractory related
products
SRERERAR Bt Bt £k 100 - 100 RERK
Z2-ZE12 A5 17
Golden Mile Holdings Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary share 100 - 100 Investment holding
6 December 2010 HKS1
EEHEHAHRERRRAR hE e i 100 - 100 WAREEHE
(Hi3Ha) “E-\f-A-1=H (KiHe)
Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Technology The PRC The PRC N/A (note (g)) 100 - 100 Not yet commenced
Development Co., Ltd. (note (2)) 23 February 2018 business
EENFAITRERAR i i TR % - % HAREER
(Ko ZE2--%t-AtEE (¥ie)
Yixing Xinwei New Materials Co., ltd. ~ The PRC The PRC N/A (note (g)) 9% - 95 Not yet commenced
(note (c) 15 November 2021 business
B &E Notes:

a)  ZERARETEIEGIEMKLRINEE
Bz

b) HARRBFRBAGIFEMKILAEFINGE

2o

ZERARRBREAGFMALAERE

[E/NCIRS

d ZERAATERFTEERMIZRELRR
NG

e) MNZEZ=FR-T-_=—F+=ZA=+-—
B ZERRIZEMERT RBALEE

o

¥

BEMBLREREMNESRRFAME
ARRBER R BERES -

BHE_ZT_=FKR-_ZT-_—"F+=A
=t BLFE AEBTENERGGF
BEAIEEMRHERS

a)  These companies are registered under the laws of the PRC as
wholly-owned foreign enterprises.

b)  This company is registered under the laws of the PRC as a
sino-foreign equity enterprise.

) These companies are registered under the laws of the PRC as a
limited liability enterprise.

d)  These companies are investment holding companies which have
no specific principal place of business.

e) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the registered capital of
these companies has not been injected by the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at
the end of the year or within any time during the year.

The Group had no subsidiary which has material

non-controlling interests for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

20. & 20. INVENTORIES
a) BRAEUEBRRRZEESRE: a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise:
—E=-= T
2023 2022
FERT FHBIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
R Raw materials 4,630 10,146
ER G Work in progress 5,511 60,343
E FX Finished goods 192,927 120,921
203,068 191,410
by BZABIZZESLEZHMOT : b)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense is as follows:
—E=-= —ET-—
2023 2022
TERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEEFEZERE Carrying amount of inventories sold 772,068 808,925
5 & Rk Write-down of inventories 65,320 417
FEMRED Reversal of write-down of inventories - (45)
837,388 809,297
HRmIEEERFANETERZRE The reversal of write-down of inventories arose due to an

FIATEEFEEM AELAFEM

MR o
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increase in the estimated net realisable value of certain
products during the year as a result of change in market

conditions.
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i © B 5 R % B 5F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

k& AND DEPOSITS
—E_=fF —E-=

2023 2022

FEx FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000

JIE U5t BR X Trade receivables 476,879 530,813
B BRI 2 R EE 1B Less: Impairment loss on trade receivables (58,266) (54,133)
78 U BR TR R Trade receivables, net 418,613 476,680
H fh & U 3X Other receivables 2,544 2,196
B E A UG R B E 1R Less: Impairment loss on other receivables (1,197) (1,211)
Hfh U F R R Other receivables, net 1,347 985
419,960 477,665

H {th AT 3R B Fi I8 Other tax refundable 3,814 14,366
& YT BR 3K B L A e W3R Trade and other receivables 423,774 492,031
BNRELRES Prepayments and deposits 5,281 13,065
=t Total 429,055 505,096

BeE :  PAE USRS E b 5K~ TR 50
REZEEBEHRAR —FAKRERER SR

¥ o

one year.
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Note: All of the trade and other receivables, prepayments and deposits
are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

21.

FERERRREMERS  BARE
58 :&AC )
FEUWIRFIRER RS (R R R HEE)
2 ZREAFTMT -

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
The presentation of ageing analysis of the trade receivables
based on the invoice date, which is approximate to the

revenue recognition date, is as follows:

—EZ= —E-_F

2023 2022

TET FHBIT

HK$'000 HK$'000

NEA A Less than 6 months 230,558 249,877
ANEARE—FUR 6 months to less than 1 year 163,275 147,634
—EMFLAR 1 year to less than 2 years 18,676 119,253
LA £ Over 2 years 64,370 14,049
476,879 530,813

B BRI Z R EE 1B Less: Impairment loss on trade receivables (58,266) (54,133)
418,613 476,680

REEZE-_=FR-_F-__F+=A
=S+-HALEE AEE-—RETHEHEF
FHNFOR180B 2 EEH - MEE R
2B P RI&% /3658 °

AEBEERNGEP OB EEE N RN H
FERBEL -ARBERMARFPHERE
RE EEEEEZHETHTABEEE
RE - EEENEECAMScREERRL
BRAE W 00 % % e WK
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During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group generally allows a credit period ranging from 0 to 180
days to its customers and allows up to 365 days to reputable

customers.

Credit is offered to customers following an assessment of their
financial abilities and payment track record. Credit limits are
set out for all customers and these can be exceeded only with
the approval from management. Management also monitors
overdue trade receivables, and follows up the collection of

these receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

21 EWERRRHMEWR - BAHKE  21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS
RiE€ (5) AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
REBERE2EHMT The movements of loss allowances for impairment are as
follows:
FE W SR X 2 R (B Hit R 2 B E
Impairment of Impairment of
trade receivables other receivables
—EC-=E —EBo—F —EC-=E T
2023 2022 2023 2022
TERT FTAET THET TAET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
mn—HA—H At 1 January 54,133 43,195 1,211 1,471
EHARMMEEIEFEE  Net impairment losses recognised 4,938 15,244 4 44
85 1 BT i /B BRI Written off as unrecoverable - = - (185)
EH=R Exchange differences (805) (4,306) (18) (119)
R+Z—A=+—~H At 31 December 58,266 54,133 1,197 1,211
AREBERE AN RELEDFEOFEMET The Group applied the ECL model prescribed by HKFRS 9, and
ZEHEEEEER EHEESEELR the impairment methodology of ECL model is set out in note
Z BT EE R FE33(@) © 33(a).
22. BEREELZEEER 22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
—E_-= —TE-F
2023 2022
FTER FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RITHEBREIRS Bank balances and cash 1,299,449 1,452,386

B hREEEBEEEASEREE 2R
S REBEBRAMBERNENT0%E1.0% (=
T —F 0%E03%) B ZBITREE -

RZBZ=F+ZA=+—HB A&EEAD
ERERNEETREIEER ZAR
HEHERITA S RIA£4/51,297,601,000
BIL(ZZE==% :1,451,402,0008 L) °

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group
and bank balances at prevailing market interest rates ranging
from 0% to 1.0% (2022: 0% to 0.3%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank balances and
cash denominated in RMB that were either not freely
convertible or were subject to exchange controls in the PRC
amounting to approximately HK$1,297,601,000 (2022:
HK$1,451,402,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

23. ENERT - EstREREMESNR 23. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER
PAYABLES
—EZ=fF -
2023 2022
FTERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
JFE 1 BR 5K Trade payables 74,792 84,631
TEiRE A M E RN Accrued expenses and other payables 16,131 22,490
FE < B B 7 2008 (B 3EG)) Amounts due to related parties (note (i) 4,647 403
& %8 & (B =Ei) Contract liabilities (note (ii)) 446 14,146
H A e HIE Other tax payable - 84
FE=T 3R I N H At fE 3R Accruals and other payables 21,224 37,123
Aat Total 96,016 121,754
M 3E Notes:
() ENBEBARERFEZELD  BEF - () The amounts due to related parties are non-trade in nature,
R ERAREREER unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
(il BHSEFZEHNARNBEEERZIER (i) The amounts primarily represent the advance payments from
TR o customers for sales of goods not yet delivered.
BRI E A2 E Y BRI The presentation of ageing analysis of the trade payables

based on the invoice date is as follows:

—E_=F —E-=
2023 2022
FExT FHExT
HK$'000 HK$'000
~NEA A Less than 6 months 37,334 54,672
~NEAZE—FUA 6 months to less than 1 year 21,706 11,016
—EMENLR 1 year to less than 2 years 5,425 8,756
MEMN Over 2 years 10,327 10,187
74,792 84,631
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i 6 8BS IR R s
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER

(%) PAYABLES (Continued)
EMBBEZEEBWT : The movement of contract liabilities are as follows:
—E-=H —=E-=
2023 2022
TERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
Rn—A—H At 1 January 14,146 10,076
RENFAGHNEBEZER Revenue recognised during the year
SR ON that was included in contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year (14,044) (9,640)
HE KB mE M - T8 Increase due to cash received, excluding
ERRAEBAZEE amounts recognised as revenue 449 14,771
EHER Exchange differences (105) (1,061)
R+=-—BR=+—H At 31 December 446 14,146
EAEBRE 24. AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS
—E-= —=E-=
2023 2022
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR+ Ms. Qian Yuanying 4,791 3,494
BRELE Mr. Jiang Quanlong 5,306 3,877
BImiE Mr. Jiang Cainan - 134
10,097 7,505
ENESREAEER 28 RIZEXE The amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest-free and
B - repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

25. REREMBRRARZHEHR

a)

25. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

BRAEMBIRR R ZEM,/ (AT E) FH a) The movement of tax payable/(recoverable) in the
B2 2EHNT consolidated statement of financial position are as
follows:
—EC-=fF — T

2023 2022

FERT TET

HK$'000 HK$'000

®n—A—H At 1 January 1,633 4,108
AN FE B (B EE9(a)) Provision for the year (note 9(a))

— R EMREH — PRC Enterprise Income Tax - 2,456
REFBEMNAFH Income tax paid during the year

— R EMEH — PRC Enterprise Income Tax (129) (4,891)
HEH B R REBEUEER Derecognised upon disposal of a

subsidiary 168 =

1,672 1,673

EHERE Exchange differences 13 (40)

R+=—A=+—8H At 31 December 1,685 1,633

R M BHRRKRERLZ
A Y B 75 78

RER B M ISR R TR
TR

B FE
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Tax recoverable recognised in

the consolidated statement of

financial position (729) (911)
Tax payable recognised in

the consolidated statement of

financial position 2,414 2,544

Net tax payable 1,685 1,633




b)

(9]

i © B 5 R % B 5F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. RBEEMBRRRZFEB (80

ERACELEREBEEE
ERRBELERBEEZ EBHKBM
MEZBHMT :

25.

HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
b) Deferred tax assets recognised

The major components of deferred tax assets recognised

and movement thereon are as follows:

FE i B X &
Hit B 2
FEEZEERE : BBEER REER @t
Impairment
loss on trade
and other
Deferred tax arising from: Tax losses receivables Total
FET FET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZE-_—_F—F—H At 1 January 2022 - 6,685 6,685
FABER () Credited to profit or loss (note 9(a)) - 725 725
EHER Exchange differences = (597) (597)

R-E-_—_%+-_A=+—H
kZZE-=F—H—H
HA/GNBE)BER

At 31 December 2022
and 1 January 2023 - 6,813 6,813
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss

(Fi3E9(a)) (note 9(a)) 1,598 (1,037) 561

EHER Exchange differences (11) (90) (101)

“=F+ZA=1+—H  At31 December 2023 1,587 5,686 7,273
MABRAZELEHBEEE c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

RZE-=F+=-A=+—H ' KR
ZEREVBREERE AT BEER
Z A HR T B 2= 2 49 5925,566,0007%8
JL(ZZT = —4 : 859,840,000/ L) °
B B DA TB R R AR A SRR - B A
HREBAATMRENEERRELERE
BE- LB ABUAEESAF
Z BT B 1B 4 5497,760,000% 7t (=
T = — 4 : 431,252,000 70)  E b
B8 P &R A 45

As at 31 December 2023, deductible temporary differences
in respect of tax losses not recognised in these consolidated
financial statements were approximately HK$925,566,000
(2022: HK$859,840,000). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such deductible temporary
differences due to the unpredictability of future profits
streams. Included in the above are tax losses of
approximately HK$497,760,000 (2022: HK$431,252,000)
which can only be carried forward for a maximum period of

five years. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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n O 85 R % B 5t
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T=

25. R&RE

d)

MM R 2 AER (80

MARRZELHREAE
BRER-ZZENE—A—HEERZ
B REMERIE - WENR KT
HEBEEBZIEEECELRPEK
3SR TS B AR B A I 3 B B B
RARBERK s A X5 ER - Al E
FREEEBHRA (WREFEZRRE)
RI0% M EHMNBHABR RN =T
ENFZAZ+=ZH BBBEER
750 765 48 F Bt 8 BA F4(2008)15% - #R Uit
R-ZETLFE+-_A=+—HATHI
BERBHFEL 2’85 IE K&
BEBMBEIMMEH

RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H 5
REBRIZHBRARIBEZSZNF
AP E BN 2EREZENA
386,232,000 L (Z & = =
504,671,000/ 7T) ° B3R AN & [E B &
HlZENBRRZREE - feimE
HER =R BEER AR RS
RAANARERE TR =R - iR
ZELTREZEBRAECHBERED
38,623,000 L (ZF = =
50,467,000/ 7T) °
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=F+=F=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

25. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law with effect
from 1 January 2008 onwards, non-resident enterprises
without an establishment or place of business in the PRC
or which have an establishment or place of business but
the relevant income is not effectively connected with the
establishment or a place of business in the PRC, will be
subject to withholding income tax at the rate of 10% on
various types of passive income such as dividends derived
from sources in the PRC. On 22 February 2008, the
Ministry of Finance and State Administration of Tax
approved Caishui (2008) No. 1,

dividend distributions out of retained profits of foreign

pursuant to which

investment enterprises prior to 31 December 2007 will be

exempted from withholding income tax.

As at 31 December 2023, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries established in
the PRC since 2008 amounted to approximately
HK$386,232,000 (2022: HK$504,671,000). Deferred tax
liabilities of approximately HK$38,623,000 (2022:
HK$50,467,000) have not been recognised in respect of
these temporary differences as the Group is able to
control the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and in
turn to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.



i 6 8BS IR R s
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT-=F+=-A=+—HILFZ For the year ended 31 December 2023

26. HEAE 26. LEASE LIABILITIES
—E-=HE =T
2023 2022
FHET FHBTT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERHEEEE: Lease liabilities payables:
—FR Within 1 year 391 371
—FEREMER After 1 year but within 2 years 411 391
MEZRBRFR After 2 years but within 5 years 218 629
1,020 1,391
B OREBBEETNER Less: Amounts due for settlement
Rt+=—@AREEHEE within 12 months shown under
Z A current liabilities (391) (371)
FEREBEEETETR Amounts due for settlement
Rt+—@ AR HES after 12 months shown under
Z A non-current liabilities 629 1,020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

27. RERRE 27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES
a) AEEGERZZESEDNREIR a) The reconciliation between the opening and closing
FREGZHBRENGAEREDRX balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
A e BRAR Az 2 @RI N F equity is set out in the consolidated statement of
NEFRBMZEBFFEHIMT ¢ changes in equity. Details of the changes in the

Company'’s individual components of equity between the

beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

ANREEAES
Attributable to owners of the Company
Rx RiaE BRERE 2R #E
Share
Share Share option  Accumulated
capital premium reserve losses Total

TRL TR ThT TR ThT
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

RZE--%#-f-H At 1 January 2022 234,170 2,243,256 - (82,935) 2,394,491
ZECCEIERRE Changes in equity for 2022:
TEEER Loss for the year - - - (@28411)  (428411)
RERAM2 AR Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - -
rEEREFEAR Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (428,411) (428,411)

BRERLEIRMAZRZ  Recognition of equity-settled share-based
RESGEZE) payments (note 28) - - 959 . 959

RZB--#+-A=+-H  At31 December 2022

&— T-=f#-H-H and 1 January 2023 234,170 2,243,256 959 (511,346) 1,967,039
ZEICEEREY: Changes in equity for 2023:
REEFR Loss for the year - - - (16,417) (16,417)
AEERM2ENS Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - -
FrEERABRAE Total comprehensive loss for the year = = = (16,417) (16,417)
RS EEINRA AER 23 Recognition of equity-settled share-based

(fiizk28) payment (note 28) - - 9,060 - 9,060
BRE L (H7E28) Lapse of share option (note 28) = = (451) 451 R
RZE-=f+-A=+-H At 31 December 2023 234,170 2,243,256 9,568 (527,312) 1,959,682
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. BAR®E (#)

b)

(9]

HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

EEREBTRA b) Authorised and issued share capital
B E B k]
Number
of shares Amount
T % FHBIT
‘000 HK$'000
SZIREEO. 108 T2 BilK Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
EE Authorised
RZTBE_—_F—H—H" At 1 January 2022,
—E-—#+=-A=+—HAK 31 December 2022, and
—E-_=F+-A=+—H 31 December 2023 4,000,000 400,000
EERTERHBE Issued and fully paid
RZTE-_—_F£—H—H" At 1 January 2022,
—E-—F+-A=+—HK 31 December 2022, and
—E=%+Z-A=+—H 31 December 2023 2,341,700 234,170

TERFEABRESTRERZKR
BERRARABIEZLZEER—FZ
BRERE B LT EREYARAE 2 F R
EEHZAHRSERZ o

mEZMEREH

D REE
BRERSHEEARE  BRDEE
IRAE DR FAARMBE R
BREEEORKREZBH%E K
RABHEINRBEEBBRES
EEEFHER -

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the
Company'’s residual assets.

¢) Nature and purpose of reserves
i) Share premium
Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium account is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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27. BAR 6 (&)

i © B 5 3 % B 5E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

0 MEZEEREMNE)

) RGEE(E)
RARZBGHEERREEHRL
#49149,950,000/ 7t * 1A 2 &
RB|FIKIER B R AR 22 E 5
TRANFTETRMD 2 EE - B
ARAR—ANANFAA=+NE
Lt B ) 1 AR 5 BR 2 B P 5 7 B
BAREARSEZIHBFEAER
BZZE5 -

i) BXEE
EXNfREASBERESEES
MEBERMEZ DEEREREZ
#EE o

i) AERE
B R B g M B R TE R TR B
BRZHERARROIARER
BIRAMBIRLZ B R R Z R
ERMAEL TRBEEZES
SHAE -

AERBARANKHBEFRE Z
BEWE) LIBHRAERE
A ERETRBRE AT R
BESTEINEREIMELR
25% °

AREETRAEZKEARZA
RIKRE M)A E SRR E
S RARBOIERE 2T 2
10%  BEZFEEHESZM
BR250%B1E o EH 2B #A
RAEB AR KRS Z ATH#ETT ©
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27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

i)

ii)

fif)

Share premium (Continued)

The share premium of the Company included the
contribution surplus of approximately
HK$149,950,000 which represented the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued in exchange for the entire issued
share capital of Lee Shing Holdings Limited and the
value of the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries
held by Lee Shing Holdings Limited at the date they
were acquired by the Company on 29 September
1999.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the capitalised
aggregate appropriations to the statutory reserves
made by the Group as a result of group

reorganisation.

Statutory reserves

Transfers from retained profits to statutory reserves
were made in accordance with the relevant PRC
rules and regulations and the articles of association
of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC and were approved by the respective boards of

directors.

Statutory reserves can be used to offset previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into
paid-up capital provided that the balance of the
statutory reserves after such conversion is not less

than 25% of the entity’s registered capital.

The Company’s certain subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to transfer a minimum of 10% of their net
profits, as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations to the statutory
reserves until the reserve balance reaches 50% of
the registered capital. The transfer must be made

before distribution of dividends to owners.
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27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

)

d)

e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

iv)  Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(r).

v)  Share option reserve
The share option reserve arose upon the grant of
share options of the Company and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 2(n)(iii).

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of the
Company’s reserves available for distribution to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$1,715,944,000
(2022: HK$1,731,910,000) which included the
Company's share premium of approximately
HK$2,243,256,000 (2022: HK$2,243,256,000), and
offsetting with accumulated losses of approximately
HK$527,312,000 (2022: HK$511,346,000). These
reserves are available for distribution provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed, the Company will be able to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefit for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher stakeholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return
capital to shareholders or sell assets to reduce debt.
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27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

e) Capital management (Continued)

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as the Group’s borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents over its total equity attributable to
owners of the Company. There were no net debt for the
Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's strategy was
unchanged from year 2022.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 6 June
2014, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”), which will be valid for 10 years from the date of its
adoption.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company
may grant share options to eligible persons, including the
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, any of its
shareholders, suppliers, customers, consultants, advisers and
joint venture partners or business alliance who have
contributed or will contribute to the development and growth
of the Group, to take up options to subscribe for shares in the
Company subject to the terms and conditions stipulated
therein. A nominal consideration will be paid by eligible
participants for each lot of share options granted. An option
may be exercised at any time during a period to be determined
and identified by the directors of the Company to each
grantee at the time of making the offer, but in any event, shall
not exceed the period of 10 years from the date of grant of
the particular option, subject to the early termination of the
Share Option Scheme.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the number of options
available for grant under the scheme mandate limit of the

Share Option Scheme was 67,264,305 shares of the Company.

On 30 November 2022, the Company granted 100,000,000
share options to five existing members of staff and five
proposed members of staff within the Group, in which,
12,500,000 share options were granted to key management
personnel, to subscribe for ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in
the share capital of the Company at an exercise price of
HK$0.51 per share. The vesting period of the share options

granted is one year from the date of grant.

The grantees may exercise the share options to subscribe for
the Company’s shares from 30 November 2023 to 5 June 2024
(both days inclusive). However, certain conditions must be met
before the grantees can exercise the share options, including
one existing staff member achieving certain performance
targets evaluated by the Company’s remuneration committee,
and the five proposed staff members being accepted as staff

of the Group. Otherwise, the share options will lapse.

The closing price of the Company’s shares on 30 November
2022, being the date of grant, was HK$0.51 per share.

The aggregate fair value of the share options determined at
the date of grant based on the Hull-White model, was
approximately HK$10,935,000.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair

values of share options granted on 30 November 2022:

Grant date share price (per share) HK$0.51
Exercise price (per share) HK$0.51
Contractual life 1.52 years
Expected volatility (%) 28.00%
Dividend yield (%) 0%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4.68%

The Hull-White model has been used to estimate the fair value
of the share options. The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair value of the share options are based on the
best estimate of the directors of the Company. Changes in
variables and assumptions may result in changes in the fair

value of the share options.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recognised share-based payments of approximately
HK$9,060,000 (2022: HK$959,000), which has been charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. There were no
share options exercised during the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2022. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
12,500,000 (2022: Nil) share options were lapsed. The number
of share options exercisable at the end of the year is
87,500,000 (2022: 100,000,000), representing 3.74% (2022:
4.27%) of the weighted average number of share in issue for
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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a)

Transactions with related parties

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed

elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the

directors of the Company consider that the followings

are the material related party transactions entered into by

the Group during the years ended 31 December 2023

and 2022:
HEALER HAKEZBE XHHE —g-=f _ZT_—f
2023 2022
Relationship TER THET
Name of related party with the Group Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
Bziht ARAHTESZ AEBERNREE BN BREEN
ERRER B £1655 852 A S BRI 800 842
Mr. Jiang Lei Close family member of Expenses relating to short-term
executive director of leases under HKFRS 16 paid
the Company by the Group 800 842
Barht ARAHTESZ AEERENS: BERRXMEZ
ERRER S 3 - 351
Mr. Jiang Xin Close family member of Payment for purchase of property,
executive director of plant and equipment by the
the Company Group - 351

ARBEZERR  LARHTIN—K
EGERETRERERERSH 2

BT L »

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the

above transactions were entered into under the normal

course of business and in accordance with the terms of

the agreements governing such transactions.
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29. ERBEEALTRG (&) 29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

b) HEXEETEBAEZRE b) Transactions with key management personnel
FEEBEABZHME (BEXNTH Emoluments for key management personnel, including
IO BEZ ARG EE L1115 amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in
REZRaTMWALTEREREEAE note 10, and the highest paid employees and senior
ZEFB)MAT ¢ management as disclosed in note 11 are as follows:

—E-= —E -4
2023 2022
TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000
HHEE R Short-term employee benefits 4,352 5,626
RIKERET Post-employment benefits 135 178
REREEARD AER 2 N3 Equity-settled share-based payment 1,193 120
5,680 5,924
30. HEMBAF 30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

R_ZE-_=F+-"A+HB AL FEF On 15 December 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with

VE=ZFAIVHEAREERBH MRS an independent third party to dispose of its 100% equity interest in

HEAR AT ([FFEEIE]) 2100% % Haicheng City Suhai Magnesium Ore Co., Ltd. (“Suhai Magnesium”)

BE&KBAAR29,500,0005T (FEERL at a cash consideration of RMB29,500,000 (equivalent to

32,785,000 70) ([ HEEH]) - #REHEE approximately HK$32,785,000) (the “Disposal”). Suhai Magnesium

FERFHEREEEER - HESZHED was principally engaged in manufacturing and sales of magnesium

RZE-_=F+-"A-+tB=EK- products. The Disposal was completed on 27 December 2023.

a) BWKE a) Consideration received

FET
HK$'000
BlReRACEHEEBRE Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 32,785
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30. HEMEBAF (&) 30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
b) XEEHEZHSEBREERERGZ b) Analysis of assets and liabilities of Suhai Magnesium
P over which control was lost
FHAIT
HK$'000
Y - R KR & Property, plant and equipment 54
EHAEEE Right-of-use assets 1,600
rE Inventories 3,036
JFE Ui B 0 e L i B W R Trade and other receivables 47,878
A Y [El 718 Tax recoverable 168
RekREEFEHEER Cash and cash equivalents 24
RS ER IR Trade payables (19,785)
JE 51 R I8 K H i & A 3K Accruals and other payables (4,125)
HEZEETFE Net assets disposed of 28,850
o HEKWBEARZWE ¢)  Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
FAT
HK$'000
BERRE Consideration received 32,785
HEZEEFE Net assets disposed of (28,850)
MEEWB AT 2 ZHEBREL  Cumulative exchange gain in respect of the net assets
BENHERBZHBRAREE of the subsidiary reclassified from equity to
FE 2 RETHE e profit or loss on loss of control in the subsidiary 1,784
M E PR ST E A A Gain on disposal of a subsidiary recognised
2 Wa in profit or loss 5,719
d HENBARZRERAFE d) Net cash inflows on disposal of a subsidiary
TAT
HK$'000
BEWFEeRASEBERERE Consideration received in cash and
cash equivalents 32,785
W HEZESREESMEEE  Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (24)
HEZBREERAFE Net cash inflows on disposal 32,761
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31.

32.

iR

R-ZE—=ER=-_FT=-—
H AEBTEEEYNE BEERKEZ
W BE 2 iE 2 B AT 418 R B HE R B ARIE -

BRERES 2EMIA
REREHR SRICMIAZREE

F+t-A=1—

31. COMMITMENTS

not provided for.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have
any capital commitment in respect of the acquisition and

construction of property, plant and equipment contracted but

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

HIAT - instruments at the end of each reporting period are as follows:
—EZ= —E-_F
2023 2022
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
TREE Financial assets
JE U BR 2K Trade receivables 418,613 476,680
H fth FE UK Other receivables 1,347 985
HeLE4ZEEAER Cash and cash equivalents 1,299,449 1,452,386
ZEBENAFTEZ Financial assets measured
TREE at amortised cost 1,719,409 1,930,051
—E-= —E-_F
2023 2022
FERT FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
cEAE Financial liabilities
JERTBR X Trade payables 74,792 84,631
TEiR B A M E MR Accrued expenses and other payables 16,131 22,490
JE {5t BE Bt 5 5RO0E Amounts due to related parties 4,647 403
JENEEHIE Amounts due to directors 10,097 7,505
HEAE Lease liabilities 1,020 1,391
BN EZ Financial liabilities measured
TRAE at amortised cost 106,687 116,420
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The risks associated with the financial instruments include

credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk
arise in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.

a) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables, other
receivables and bank balances. Management has a credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are

monitored on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification

as at 31 December.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for

financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the

financial guarantee contracts.
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33. BXEREEREBMIAEZATE

(%)
a) fFEARE

RABERRFHEER (F)

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

a) Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

—E-=F
2023
T=f@A
ZBH
FEFE
12-month BERFEN BROEEER
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F-RBE E-RE E=REE  @EAZ @zt
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
TER TER TER TER TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
JE Yo BR 30 Trade receivables - - - 476,879 476,879
H A R Other receivables 1,347 - 1,197 - 2,544
RITHEER Bank balances 1,299,410 - - - 1,299,410
1,300,757 - 1,197 476,879 1,778,833
—EoCF
2022
+ =17
AL
FEBE
12-month REFEH,EHREEER
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F—FRE FRE F=PRE b 5% st
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
TABL FBT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
KRR Trade receivables = = - 530,813 530,813
H b FE YR Other receivables 985 = 1,211 - 2,196
RITEH Bank balances 1,452,084 - - - 1,452,084
1,453,069 - 1,211 530,813 1,985,093
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
a) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables

In respect of trade receivables, in order to minimise
credit risk, the management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial position and conditions
are performed on each major customer periodically.
These evaluations focus on the customers’ past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customers as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customers
operate. The Group does not require collateral in

respect of its financial assets.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and the
country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the
end of the reporting period, 40.6% (2022: 29.3%)
and 70.3% (2022: 64.3%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the Group's largest
customer and the five largest customers

respectively.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
a) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position
after deducting any impairment loss. As at 31
December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not
provide any guarantees which would expose the

Group to credit risk.

The Group assesses lifetime ECLs for trade
receivables under HKFRS 9 to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for significant increase
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring. The
ECLs on trade receivables are assessed for debtors
individually or collectively using a provision matrix
with appropriate groupings. As part of the Group's
credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
ageing to assess with the impairment loss because
these customers consist of a large number of
customers which share common risk characteristics
that are representative of the customers’ abilities to
pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The estimated loss rates are
estimated on historical observed default rates over
the expected lives of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort.
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33. iXREKMEEREMIAZATE 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(18)
a)

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
EERE (E) a) Credit risk (Continued)
() JEWERZ (&) (i) Trade receivables (Continued)
TRIBEHABAREE G EWERR The following table provides information about the
FiAEEERR NFEHEEERE Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
ZER receivables:
ZECZE
2023
REEEE REAR HEZBERE
Expected  Gross carrying  Loss allowances
loss rate amount  for impairment
THER TER
HK$'000 HK$'000
HER (RBH) Current (not yet past due) 4.90% 114,982 5,632
BEBORAEA Less than 6 months past due 10.82% 296,880 32,131
BHEBAEARIN-F More than 6 months but less
than 1 year past due 12.98% 51,125 6,637
RERR-FEIRME More than 1 year but less
than 2 years past due 56.67% 60 34
BBERME Over 2 years past due 100% 13,832 13,832
476,879 58,266
“E-_F
2022
BHERE REAE HEzEREE
Expected Gross carrying  Loss allowances
oss rate amount for impairment
T TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
A (Ko ) Current (not yet past due) 7.53% 131,407 9,897
AEHDREA Less than 6 months past due 6.16% 341,408 21,025
AREB EARIR—F More than 6 months but less
than 1 year past due 24.47% 45,845 11,220
BHEA-FEIRRE More than 1 year but less
than 2 years past due 66.66% 485 323
HEHBRBME Over 2 years past due 100% 11,668 11,668
530,813 54,133
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

a)

b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)  Trade receivables (Continued)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 2 years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the

receivables.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade

receivables are set out in note 21.

(i) Bank balances
The Group mitigates its exposure to credit risk by
placing deposits with financial institutions with
established credit rating. Given the high credit
ratings of the banks, the management does not
expect any counterparty to fail to meet its

obligations.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject
to the approval from board of directors. The Group's
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient amount
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and longer term.
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The following tables set out the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group's financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments

computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on

ZERTAAE - rates at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay:
ZECZZE
2023
BRRBRR LR
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—-FRs  -F#RE  WERE
REREE GEI nER @t RHEE
More than ~ More than
Within ~ 1year but 2 years but
1 year or less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
THER ThR ThR ThR ThR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTESREAR Non-derivative financial
liabilities
JE SRR R Trade payables 74,792 - - 74,792 74,792
BREBLREMENT Accrued expenses and other
payables 16,131 - - 16,131 16,131
FE{ BRRE 7 2B Amounts due to related parties 4,647 - - 4,647 4,647
ENEERE Amounts due to directors 10,097 - - 10,097 10,097
HEAE Lease liabilities 432 432 221 1,085 1,020
106,099 432 221 106,752 106,687
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HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

33. MERAKEEREMIAZATE 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(#8) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b) HZBELEAK (&) b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
—E-CE
2022
BHREBEBAL R

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

—FAE  —FRE  WERE
REXER mEF A nER @it RHE
More than ~ More than
Within 1yearbut 2 years but
1 year or less than less than Carrying

on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FESRER Non-derivative financial

liabilities
FERERR Trade payables 84,631 - - 84,631 84,631
HEREAREMENT Accrued expenses and other

payables 22,490 - - 22,490 22,490
FE{ BB 5 2B Amount due to a related party 403 403 403
ENEEHE Amounts due to directors 7,505 - - 7,505 7,505
HEAE Lease liabilities 432 432 653 1,517 1,391

115,461 432 653 116,546 116,420
o FEER ¢) Interest rate risk

AEBZHAERAREERERE LB The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from cash
SEEER MRESERESESEE and cash equivalents. The Group does not anticipate
BrRERBEBHAEEANEE - Bk A significant interest rate risk to cash and cash equivalents
SEEHAS I e FEEARTERER because the interest rates of these balances are not

expected to change significantly.
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

HERREEREMIAZATE 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(%) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
o FEREE (&) ¢) Interest rate risk (Continued)
) FEEE i) Interest rate profile
TRAMHIAEERNR & KRR The following table details the interest rate profile
EEBERBREHRNFEMA of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents at the end
& of the reporting period:
—E-= —E-_F
2023 2022
BRA= THER B A= FHET
Effective Effective
interest rate HK$'000 interest rate HK$'000
BekE&%EEE Cash and cash equivalents 0%-1% 1,299,449 0%-0.3% 1,452,386

i) BEEST
RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—8"
EPﬁﬁEW‘%&WﬁKﬁ%E’J'I*“

hETFIREEE A TS
1I%%£Hm)w/isﬁuz&%l$¢
EBRBEBERRD LM%
25t &8 494,874,000 70 (=

£ = — 4 :5,450,000% 7T) © Fl
ERB AR TRYEA RN
HbBHERTE -

LR SREE DT IR BN S
RAAEZNERBMETE - B
BOMIBRRNBERARZAE
BeRMTARBEFERARER
MAws - SOEEIM EAKTRS
AEBA =2 EEA BE R XA
SERER TAEEESH
MEMAEBAEEB NG - =
T _FEUMEREEER AT o

i) Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 50 basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would decrease/increase the Group’s loss after
taxation for the year and decrease/increase the
Group’s accumulated losses by approximately
HK$4,874,000 (2022: HK$5,450,000). Other
components of consolidated equity would not be
changed in response to the general increase or
decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. The 50 basis points increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible changes in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for year
2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

33. iXREKMEERESMIAZATE 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(%) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

d E¥ER d) Currency risk
AEEFZERNEFRAEEERND The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
EEUIINNESETEEMEENE sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
WK EREBEeRREEEBERB payables, and cash and cash equivalents that are
MEYEERKR EREERBZE denominated in a currency other than the functional
BEEAEL([ET]) - currency of the group entities to which they relate. The

currency giving rise to currency risk is primarily United
States dollars (“US$").

) BTREZBEERE i) Exposure to currency risk
TRANAREE G K G A HE B The following table details the Group’s exposure to
ERBE 2R EEAINE S currency risk arising from recognised assets or
BZEEREEXBBEMAEER liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
BER B o functional currency of the group entities to which
they relate.
FEREZESRER E ETT
Exposure to currency risk uss$ us$
—E-=f —E=-=
2023 2022
FTERT FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
JE W BR 3R % E At e R Trade and other receivables 6,304 7,647
RekReEMBEIAB Cash and cash equivalents 1,409 1,102
JE 1T B 3 B HL A JE < 3K Trade and other payables (6,886) (8,276)
Pz BEEKRE R Overall exposure to currency risk 827 473
7N 5 (B 3R 30 A Bt 1 R IR e The Group currently does not have a foreign
B EEINEH R BR - KK H currency hedging policy in respect of its foreign
BEIERIINERR  WEER currency receivables and debts. The Group will
EEREREHAEAEERR monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and

will consider hedging significant currency exposure
should the need arises.
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

33. MERAKEEREMIAZATE
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
d) Currency risk (Continued)

i)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss after taxation and
accumulated losses that would arise if foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant

exposure at the end of the reporting period had

B o changed at that date, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant.

BB AR BREEER

WD/ (Em) m/(Em)

HBEE REEE SR X REFHER

gi/0Ad) B/ #Bn/0Rd) RS/

Decrease/ Decrease/

(increase) in (increase) in

loss after loss after

Increase/  taxation and Increase/ taxation and

(decrease) decrease/ (decrease) decrease/

in foreign  (increase) in in foreign (increase) in

exchange  accumulated exchange accumulated

rates losses rates losses

—E-=F —E-—F

2023 2022

TER T

HK$'000 HK$'000

e Us$ 5% 11 5% 6

(5%) (11) (5%) (6)
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HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

33. IXEREERSMIE Y ATEME  33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(1®) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
d) E¥%EE(E) d)

Currency risk (Continued)

168

i) HEEDY (E)
EXRAIR A MERRKRE AR
AR PR 2 B KB A RIRE
Bz ER ELREREY
RZERBE BB TIAHRZS 2
BRI (BR) 6 f ks
ZREZE AN

iR GRS R RN E
ZRYBRAREFTEAEER
BEMKFRE L EBIATE
T o WA =B —F 248
AR -

e) AFEFE
BLFEN)EEFSEZEHEER
BEZAFHE
RZEZ=FR-_F-__F+=H
e el = RN S 2 i N 7 5N
TECERMIAZERMERRES ZA
FETEEAEER -
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e)

ii)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregate of the instantaneous
effects on (loss)/profit after taxation and equity for
each of the Company’s subsidiaries established in
the PRC measured in their respective functional
currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rate ruling at the end of each reporting

period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is performed on the

same basis for year 2022.

Fair value measurement

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at

other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial

instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not

materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

METHRELERAEZHE

TRHANAEEREEDMELABL#
B BREESKFEED REFPM
EFXAEDREREENIARARRERE
HREGEERERERDERBMETIES
ZIRERE °

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

The table below details changes in the Group’'s liabilities

arising from financing activities, including both cash and

non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities

are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will

be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as

cash flows from financing activities.

HEaRE HREE #st
Lease Discounted
liabilities bills Total
TET T TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZE-_—_F—H—H At 1 January 2022 1,744 - 1,744
REREREZEE ! Changes from financing cash flows:

BENHEERE 2EAT R Capital element of lease rentals paid (353) - (353)
ENRERE 2R EBH Interest element of lease rentals paid (79) = (79)
27 & Interest paid - (218) (218)
Hit 25 Other changes:

FIEBEX (FizEs(a)) Interest expenses (note 8(a)) 79 218 297

_2::¢+ A=+—H At 31 December 2022

“Z-=%—A—H and 1 January 2023 1,391 - 1,391
MEREREZSE ! Changes from financing cash flows:
ENEER S 2 AR Capital element of lease rentals paid 371) - 371)
EREERE 2 FISHH Interest element of lease rentals paid (61) - (61)
A8 Interest paid - (248) (248)
Hitt#5 Other changes:
72 F X (fizEs(a)) Interest expenses (note 8(a)) 61 248 309
—=f%+-HA=+-H At 31 December 2023 1,020 - 1,020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

35. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION
—E-= —E-F
2023 2022
s FET FHET
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
B Equipment 62 125
FREEE Right-of-use assets 925 1,293
WEB AR Z&KE Investments in subsidiaries 19 151,707 151,707
152,694 153,125
RBEE Current assets
BNRBRES Prepayments and deposits 208 241
& Uk B BB A Bl ZRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,827,226 1,832,523
RekBFeFEHEE Cash and cash equivalents 598 42
1,828,032 1,832,806
REBEE Current liabilities
JE 5T 2738 N H b e~ 3R Accruals and other payables 8,343 8,338
EftEE 08 Amounts due to directors 9,460 6,927
FE BT B A ) 3kE Amounts due to subsidiaries 2,221 2,236
HEAE Lease liabilities 391 371
20,415 17,872
REBEETE Net current assets 1,807,617 1,814,934
EERERARBAR Total assets less current
liabilities 1,960,311 1,968,059
kRBEE Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 629 1,020
EEFE NET ASSETS 1,959,682 1,967,039
IR A< I fk £ CAPITAL AND RESERVES 27
N Share capital 234,170 234,170
G Reserves 1,725,512 1,732,869
EREE TOTAL EQUITY 1,959,682 1,967,039
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HE-_T-=F+=-FA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

36. RBEE-—ZE-_=f+=-H=+—H

IEEECREMERRERZBITA
HAEARREBzTRESE

BENSHEA

FHBETERS Ftg

AHASEEMTIRNBE_T_=F
TZA=+-BLFEHARERBLER
WEEE MWK T RBEERT A RFA]
R HRBENA T AR EAEEERE -

BRGHENEI K2 BAA

BRGHENEI K2 BAA

BRNBRSEN R 16% 2
LS

BREREESH

BRETENRTREERHT
BERETE 2 BHA
R ENEFAZHEN
BRMBREENS0RRER
EREIENIS PAHES

AEIBARAFAY'

HERELFRBAR
EREDZHEARE

i

BERRN2S-ERAHEA
BEXBRAFNTHERA

78

RERSERE

Bz

REXEEREADAAELE
REEHEZRA

! RZZ-MFE—A—BRZ&RIGNF

AR AR -

2 R-ZF_hF— AR ZRABNF

Vﬂﬁﬁaﬁiiﬂ
’ BEERIZ

ZEEFT AT KA F
WMREREATE -

SEENERAH

Zfﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂ e Eﬂziﬁ Al
PR AEB 2 REMT

CAEERREN

i © B 5 R % B 5F

36. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

DECEMBER 2023

Up to the date of issuance of these consolidated financial

statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments

and new standard which are not yet effective for the year

ended 31 December 2023 and which have not been adopted

in these consolidated financial statements. These include the

following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKFRS 16

HK Int 5

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current'
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause'

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Lack of Exchangeability?
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025.

g Effective date to be determined by the IASB.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what

the impact of these developments are expected to be in the

period of initial application. So far the Group has concluded

that the adoption of them is unlikely to have significant impact

on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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HE+-A=1t—-BLEE
For the year ended 31 December

—Eg-=f C—E--_f T —TE-TEF —E-NF

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

FTET FET FHL FET FET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

WA Revenue 686,073 810,413 1,212,471 1,112,317 1,018,535

SHERKA Cost of sales (837,388) (809,297)  (1,126,488)  (1,036,492) (941,427)

(£8)/EH Gross (loss)/profit (151,315) 1,116 85,983 75,825 77,108

BRELAT (B518),/ & A (Loss)/profit before taxation (210,165) (391,946) 28,083 26,495 40,908

EkEe,/ (ZH) Income tax credit/(charge) 561 (1,731) (2,647) (5,887) (1,321)

REE (BE)/EF (Loss)/profit for the year (209,604) (393,677) 25,436 20,608 39,587

FEfh : Attributable to:

AAREEA Owners of the Company (200,545) (373,296) 24,274 19,710 38,885

RS Non-controlling interests (9,059) (20,381) 1,162 898 702

(209,604) (393,677) 25,436 20,608 39,587

W+=A=+-8
As at 31 December

—E-= —T-- —E-—F ZZT-TF Z—E-hF

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

THT FET FET FET FET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

B A E Current assets 1,932,301 2,149,803 2,730,581 2,679,928 2,464,774

FnBEE Non-current assets 221,402 259,827 316,424 252,585 267,282

BEBE Total assets 2,153,703 2,409,630 3,047,005 2,932,513 2,732,056

MEBEE Current liabilities 108,918 132,174 155,366 145,842 127,102

FrRBERE Non-current liabilities 629 1,020 1,391 2,102 3,345

BEHAE Total liabilities 109,547 133,194 156,757 147,944 130,447

BE %M Net assets 2,044,156 2,276,436 2,890,248 2,784,569 2,601,609

N Share capital 234,170 234,170 234,170 234,170 234,170

G Reserves 1,830,204 2,053,651 2,647,191 2,542,911 2,361,275
VN/NGIEZ 2N Equity attributable to

FE(5 % owners of the Company 2,064,374 2,287,821 2,881,361 2,777,081 2,595,445

FEVERRAE 5 Non-controlling interests (20,218) (11,385) 8,887 7,488 6,164

EReE Total equity 2,044,156 2,276,436 2,890,248 2,784,569 2,601,609
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